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DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
The Directors of PNX Metals Limited (‘PNX’ or ‘Company’) present their report for the financial year ended 30 
June 2016. As approved by shareholders at the Company’s November 2015 Annual General Meeting and 
effective December 2015, the Company’s name was changed from Phoenix Copper Limited to PNX Metals 
Limited. 

Directors 

The names and details of directors in office during and since the end of the financial year are as follows.  

Graham Ascough (Non-Executive Chairman) 

Appointed 7 December 2012 

Graham Ascough (BSc, PGeo, MAusIMM) is a senior resources executive with more than 25 years of industry 
experience evaluating mineral projects and resources in Australia and overseas.  

Mr Ascough, a geophysicist by training, has had broad industry involvement playing a leading role in setting 
the strategic direction for companies, completing financing and in implementing successful exploration 
programmes.  Mr Ascough was the Managing Director of Mithril Resources Ltd from October 2006 until June 
2012. Prior to joining Mithril in 2006, he was the Australian Manager of Nickel and PGM Exploration at a 
major Canadian resources house, Falconbridge Limited, which was acquired by Xstrata Plc in 2006.  He was 
also a Councillor of the South Australian Chamber of Mines and Energy and Chair of its Exploration 
Committee from 2006 - 2012 and has strong ties to the South Australian resources industry. He is a member 
of the Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and is a Professional Geoscientist of Ontario, Canada. 

In the 3 years immediately prior to 30 June 2016, Graham Ascough held the following directorships of other 
listed companies for the following periods: 

• Non-executive Chairman, Avalon Minerals Limited – since 30 November 2013 

• Non-executive Chairman, Mithril Resources Limited – since 9 October 2006 

• Non-executive Chairman, Musgrave Minerals Limited – since 26 May 2010 

• Non-executive Chairman, Aguia Resources Limited – from 19 October 2010 to 15 November 2013 

•  Non-Executive Director, Reproductive Health Science Limited – from 31 July 2013 to 2 April 2014 

Paul J Dowd, Non-Executive Director 

Appointed 27 September 2007 

Paul Dowd has over 50 years’ experience in the mining industry in Australia and many overseas countries.  In 
April 2012 he retired as Managing Director of PNX, a position he assumed in September 2008, but remains on 
the Board as a non-executive director.  Mr Dowd’s experience includes executive management roles 
including Vice President of Newmont Mining Corporation’s Australian and New Zealand Operations and 
Managing Director of Newmont Australia Limited, and as a senior public servant – head of the resources and 
petroleum department in the Kennett Government of Victoria.  In 2015, he retired as Chairman of the SA 
Mineral Resources & Heavy Engineering Skills Centre but remains on the Board.  He is a non-executive 
director of Oz Minerals Limited and Energy Resources of Australia Limited (ERA).  Mr Dowd is also a board 
member of the Sustainable Minerals Institute (University of Queensland) and Chairman of the Mineral 
Resources Sector Advisory Council of the CSIRO.  In the 3 years immediately prior to 30 June 2016, Paul Dowd 
held the following directorships of other listed companies for the following periods: 

• Non-executive director, Oz Minerals Limited - since 23 July 2009 

• Non-executive director, Energy Resources of Australia Limited - since 26 October 2015 

Peter Watson, Non-executive Director 

Appointed 7 September 2007 

Peter Watson, a founder of PNX, studied Law at Melbourne University and graduated with honours. He has 
practiced law for over 45 years, specialising in commercial, corporate, resources and trade practices law. He 
is admitted to practice in South Australia, New South Wales, Victoria and Western Australia as well as the 



PNX Metals Limited (ASX: PNX) Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

2 

 

High Court of Australia. For over 20 years, Mr Watson was a partner in the national law firm now known as 
Norton Rose Fulbright. During that time he established, and for 4 years managed, its Perth office. He also 
managed its Melbourne office for 2 years. In 1996 Mr Watson joined Andersen Legal as its first Melbourne 
partner and in 1999 was recruited by Normandy Mining Limited as its group legal counsel and a group 
executive. Following the takeover of Normandy by Newmont Mining Corporation, he returned to private 
legal practice and founded the boutique law firm Watsons Lawyers in Adelaide which on 1 July 2016 merged 
with Piper Alderman.  Mr Watson is a member of the board of trustees of the Bethlehem Griffiths Research 
Foundation (a medical research charitable foundation), non-executive director of Felton Grimwade and 
Bosisto’s Pty Ltd (a manufacturer and supplier of eucalyptus products and over-the-counter therapeutic 
products). In the 3 years immediately prior to 30 June 2016, Peter Watson held the following directorships of 
other listed companies for the following periods:  

• Non-executive director, Lawson Gold Limited from 5 August 2010 to 2 July 2013 

David Hillier, Non-executive Director 

Appointed 17 September 2010 

David Hillier is a Chartered Accountant and has more than 40 years’ experience in commercial aspects of the 
resources industry. He has served as Chairman and as a director of a number of public companies in the 
mining and exploration field, including Lawson Gold Limited and Buka Gold Limited.  Throughout 2008 he was 
Chief Financial Officer and an executive director of AIM listed Minerals Securities Limited, based in London. 
Between 1989 and 2002, Mr Hillier held a range of senior executive positions in the Normandy Mining 
Limited Group of companies and was Chief Financial Officer of Normandy for six of these years. In the 3 years 
immediately prior to 30 June 2016, David Hillier held the following directorships of other listed companies for 
the following periods: 

• Non-executive Chairman, Lawson Gold Limited from 5 August 2010 to 2 July 2013 

James Fox, Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (MD & CEO) 

Appointed 26 November 2014 

James Fox has been CEO of the Company since May 2012.  He has 20 years’ experience in the mining 
industry. Prior to joining PNX, he was responsible for the development and operation of the Nickel Laterite 
Heap Leach project at the Murrin Murrin operations in Western Australia. Mr Fox has held various senior 
processing positions including Process Manager at the Nifty Copper Operation in Western Australia. He has 
worked in the UK, Cyprus, Uganda and Australia in gold, lead, zinc, copper, nickel and cobalt mining and 
processing operations. 

Company Secretary 

Tim Moran  

Tim Moran is a Chartered Accountant with 20 years’ experience in accounting and finance and over 10 years’ 
experience in the mining and energy industries. Prior to commencing with PNX, Mr Moran was the Chief 
Financial Officer and Company Secretary of a Canadian listed oil and gas company in Calgary, Canada, and 
before that spent 12 years with global accounting and professional advisory firm KPMG. 

Interests in Shares and Performance Rights of the Company 

As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in the shares and performance rights of PNX are as 
follows: 

Graham Ascough, Non-Executive Chairman 

Graham Ascough has an indirect interest in 2,363,010 Shares. 

Paul Dowd, Non-Executive Director 

Paul Dowd has a direct interest in 500,000 Shares, and an indirect interest in 5,668,077 Shares.  

Peter Watson, Non-Executive Director 

Peter Watson has a direct interest in 1,767,231 Shares and an indirect interest in 7,000,000 Shares.  Related 
parties of Mr Watson hold a further 1,350,000 Shares. 
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David Hillier, Non-executive Director 

David Hillier has an indirect interest in 2,000,000 Shares. 

James Fox, Managing Director & CEO 

A related party of Mr Fox holds 3,825,000 Shares. 

Dividends and Distributions 

No dividends or distributions were paid to members during the financial year and none were recommended 
or declared for payment. 

Principal Activities  

The principal activity of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries (‘Group’) during the financial year 
was mineral exploration and advancement of its Hayes Creek gold-silver-zinc project through to a completed 
scoping study and the start of a Pre-Feasibility Study (‘PFS’).    

Hayes Creek Project 

The Hayes Creek Project (‘Project’) is located in a favourable mining jurisdiction in the Pine Creek region of 
Northern Territory, approximately 180km south of Darwin.  It comprises 14 wholly-owned mineral leases 
including the base and precious metals deposits at Iron Blow and Mt Bonnie which were acquired, as 
prospects, in 2014 from Newmarket Gold NT Holdings Pty Ltd, a subsidiary of Newmarket Gold Inc. 
(‘Newmarket Gold’)1. 

The Hayes Creek Project contains total Inferred and Indicated mineral resources (JORC Code 2012) of 257Koz 
gold, 16.3Moz silver, 178Kt zinc, 41Kt lead and 11.5Kt copper2.  During the year the Company completed a 
scoping study on the Project which found that mining and processing ore derived from both open-pit and 
underground operations would generate strong financial returns for PNX, including a fast payback period 
with modest capital expenditure.  The Company is aiming to develop an operation with a mine life of greater 
than 7 years, producing payable metals of 14koz gold, 1.3Moz silver, and 14kt zinc in concentrate annually.  
The development strategy includes the use of existing infrastructure including rail, road, high voltage power 
lines and water, designed to boost economics and reduce project risk. 

A PFS is underway, fully funded and due for completion by mid-2017.  The PFS aims to improve the certainty 
of the mining inventory and associated operating and development costs, and reduce the technical risk of the 
Project before a development decision.  Specific components and objectives of the PFS include: 

• Drilling: 

o Upgrade the confidence in the mineral resources to the ‘Indicated’ category for both the Iron 
Blow and Mt Bonnie deposits 

o Test for extensions to the mineralisation beyond current geological models 
o Define additional gold resources at Iron Blow to enhance Project value 

• Ongoing approvals, environmental baseline studies, stakeholder engagement toward a decision to mine 

• Selection of optimum Project configuration - process plant, infrastructure, engineering studies, tails 
treatment, waste dumps, route to market 

• Increase confidence in capital and operating cost estimate  

• Metallurgical optimisation: 

o increase recoveries of payable metals to final products  
o decrease potential penalty and/or deleterious elements 
o investigate benefits of producing bullion - doré (a scoping study assumption) vs precious metals 

concentrate  
o investigate potential revenue from lead/copper concentrates (assumed nil in scoping study) 

                                                           
1 Refer ASX release 18 August 2014 for further detail 
2 Refer ASX release 31 March 2016 for further detail 
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PFS drilling commenced in September 2016 at Hayes Creek, comprising a 7,500 metre infill and extensional 
reverse-circulation (‘RC’) and diamond drilling program. 

PFS and Research and Development (R&D) metallurgical optimisation work includes the continuation of 
research and development activities associated with identifying and understanding the geological and 
mineralogical structure and processing characteristics of the polymetallic ores at Hayes Creek. 

Regional Exploration and Farm-In Agreement 

The Burnside, Moline and Chessman project areas are also in the Pine Creek region of the Northern Territory 
and form part of PNX’s farm-in agreement with Newmarket Gold where PNX is earning up to 90%, in two 
stages, of 19 Exploration Licenses and four Mineral Leases covering approximately 1,700 square kilometres.3  
Total expenditure at 30 June 2016 for the purpose of the first stage of the farm-in was approximately $1.5 
million.  A further $0.5 million is required to be spent by mid-December 2016 to achieve the 51% stage one 
earn-in.  PNX can then elect to increase its interest to 90% with expenditure of an additional $2 million over a 
further 2 year period. 

Regional exploration activities during the year were aimed at identifying new gold and base metal targets in 
the vicinity of the Hayes Creek project.  Geological mapping, rock chip sampling and geochemical soil data 
were collected to complement the already significant datasets inherited from Newmarket Gold. 

Gold and base metals exploration will be the key regional focus for the latter half of 2016 and into 2017, with 
4 clear areas of focus for short to medium term development potential emerging: 

• Golden Dyke Dome - near mine growth potential, primary mineralisation beneath historic open pits 
• Cosmo-Howley anticline - large zone of interest, numerous existing gold deposits, limited deeper 

drilling  
• Moline – historical mining centre with reserves reportedly remaining unmined and untested depth 

potential of numerous high grade ore shoots 
• Mt Ellison - multi-commodity zone (Au, Cu, Pb, Zn), historic copper-bismuth mining, no modern 

exploration 
A 7-hole RC drilling program commenced subsequent to year-end at Langleys prospect (Burnside area), one 
of many gold targets within the Golden Dyke Dome and approximately 3km from the proposed 
developments at Hayes Creek.  The program is targeting extensions to known gold mineralisation, with assay 
results expected by the end of September.   PNX acquired a further three minerals leases during the year 
(completed subsequent to year-end) to consolidate a dominant position in this prospective but under-
explored geological region. 

The Company will also conduct diamond drilling in the coming months at two greenfield targets, Barossa 
(Burnside Project) and Tractor Corner (Chessman Project). In June 2016, PNX was successful in obtaining 
grant funding from the Northern Territory Geological Survey’s Geophysics and Drilling Collaborations funding 
program of approximately $85,000 to co-fund these diamond drilling programs. 

Capital Raising 

During the first half of the financial year the Company raised $1.5 million via the placement of 115 million 
shares at 1.3 cents per share to sophisticated investors and company directors.  A further $0.25 million was 
raised in April 2016 from the placement of 26.3 million shares at 0.95 cents per share to sophisticated 
investors. 

Subsequent to 30 June 2016, the Company raised $1.5 million via the placement of 79 million shares at 1.9 
cents each to sophisticated and institutional investors, and received a commitment for a further share 
placement of $0.25 million, if approved by shareholders at the Company’s annual general meeting. 

Other Funding – Silver Streaming Agreements 

The Company raised $1.6 million in June 2016 under identical metal streaming and royalty agreements with 
two investors.  $800,000 was received from each investor for the forward sale of 112,000 troy ounces of 

                                                           
3 Refer ASX release 18 August 2014 for further detail 
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silver ($7.14/oz).  The silver is to be delivered at a rate of 14,000 oz per quarter (56,000 oz per year) for 2 
years once commissioning and ramp up of the Hayes Creek Project is complete.   

At the end of the two year silver delivery period, each investor receives a 0.24% Net Smelter Return (NSR) 
royalty.  The NSR royalty applies in respect of gold and silver produced from the Hayes Creek Project, and will 
be paid for a 5 year period from the end of the silver delivery period.  PNX can buy back the NSR royalty from 
an Investor prior to production commencing for $0.27 million. 

Each investor has an option, to be exercised within 3 months of completion of the pre-feasibility study over 
the Hayes Creek project, to purchase an additional 56,000 oz of silver for $0.4 million.  This silver is to be 
delivered over a further one year period.   In this scenario the NSR increases to 0.36% and buy-back amount 
increases to $0.4 million. 

If production at the Hayes Creek Project has not commenced within 5 years and PNX or an investor elects to 
terminate the agreement, the forward payment made by that investor ($0.8 million, or $1.2 million, if the 
option has been exercised) converts to PNX shares based on a 30 day VWAP.  The NSR royalty will also apply 
in these circumstances for 5 years from when production commences on any of the mineral leases making up 
the Hayes Creek project.  

Leigh Creek  

Resilience Mining Australia Limited (‘RMA’, previously Hillsgold Resources Pty Ltd) continues to hold an 
option to acquire the Company’s 100% owned subsidiary Leigh Creek Copper Mine Pty Ltd (‘LCCM’).  LCCM 
holds three mining leases in the Leigh Creek area including Mountain of Light, which has been on care and 
maintenance since January 2012.   

RMA has yet to exercise the option, which expires in mid-October 2016. 

Should RMA exercise the option, it will acquire LCCM, and two exploration licences in the Leigh Creek area, 
from the Company for nil up-front consideration (other than the assumption of the rehabilitation obligations 
at Mountain of Light) and a contingent payment to the Company of $100,000 if and when 3,000 tonnes of 
copper are produced from future operations at the three mining leases. 

Avalon Investment 

The Company continues to hold 12.9 million shares in Avalon Minerals Limited, representing approximately 
2.5% of ordinary shares on issue of that company.  The investment was funded primarily by a $1.2 million 
unsecured loan, which is to be repaid via the remittance of proceeds from the sale of Avalon shares.  Any 
shortfall may be paid by the issue of shares in the Company.  If the shares in Avalon are not disposed of by 
the November 2019 maturity date, the loan is repayable in cash.  The maturity date of the loan was extended 
three years to November 2019 during the year by agreement with the lender. 

The Company is continuing to evaluate strategic options regarding its holding in Avalon.  Avalon is continuing 
to progress its flagship Viscaria copper project in northern Sweden toward feasibility and a production 
decision, and advance its newly acquired lithium and gold assets in Finland and Sweden. 

Review of Operations 

The Group reported a comprehensive net loss for the year of $1.1 million (2015: $3.9 million), and the net 
result from continuing operations was a loss after income tax of $0.9 million (2015: $4.1 million).  The prior 
year result included impairment charges on the Group’s South Australian exploration and evaluation assets 
of $1.7 million and $1.2 million on the investment in Avalon.  The loss from the Group’s discontinued 
operations at Leigh Creek was $0.1 million (2015: $0.2 million).  The 2016 result included a tax benefit of $0.2 
million from the Group’s 2015 research and development claim, which was received in July 2016. 

Overall, the loss from continuing operations in 2016 of $0.9 million was similar to the $1.2 million loss from 
2015 after excluding the prior year impairment charges, and very similar on a pre-tax basis ($1.1 million loss 
in 2016 compared to $1.2 million in the prior year).  The Group’s corporate costs, which include head office 
wages, directors’ fees, professional fees, insurance, regulatory, occupancy and communications costs have 
not changed significantly. 

Net operating cash outflows for the year of $1.1 million reflect the pre-tax loss from continuing operations.  
Exploration cash outflows of $1.5 million related almost entirely to the Group’s projects in the Northern 
Territory. 
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At 30 June 2016, the Group had cash holdings of $1.6 million and net working capital of $1.7 million excluding 
the investment in Avalon.  As noted earlier, subsequent to year-end the Group raised $1.5m from placements 
to sophisticated and institutional investors. 

Exploration 

As noted earlier, exploration activities during the year were focused at Hayes Creek, with the successful 
completion of a scoping study and commencement of a PFS.  These have been discussed earlier under 
‘Principal Activities’.  Other significant achievements that provided valuable input to the scoping study 
included: 

• Completion of a 1,560m RC and diamond drill program at Mt Bonnie in October 2015 with better 
intersections including: 

o 8.78m @ 7.16% Zn, 1.04g/t Au, 215g/t Ag, 0.34% Cu and 1.62% Pb from 55m in MBDH033  
o 42.25m @ 2.96% Zn, 0.59g/t Au, 35g/t Ag and 0.33% Pb from 25.75m in MBDH034, 

including 3.1m @ 10.77% Zn, 3.34g/t Au, 133g/t Au, 0.39% Cu and 1.21% Pb from 63.9m 
 

• The drilling and assay results from Mt Bonnie were a key component of an initial JORC 2012 
resource estimate at that deposit that was finalised in February 2016: 

o 1.3 million tonnes @ 4.2% Zn, 1.3 g/t Au, 133 g/t Ag, 1.3% Pb, and 0.3% Cu4 
 

• R&D metallurgical test-work was completed during the year where detailed analysis was completed 
on Iron Blow massive sulphides, including grind variability, reagent optimisation, concentrate 
regrind and cleaning flotation.  Metallurgical investigations have identified a practical and low cost 
flow sheet to maximise recoveries of the most valuable minerals in the resources, being zinc, gold 
and silver.  

Regional exploration (NT) – exploration during the year was aimed at identifying new gold and base metal 
targets in the vicinity of the Hayes Creek project.  The Burnside, Moline and Chessman Projects contain 
exciting opportunities for brownfield discoveries with undeveloped mineralisation and promising new 
conceptual targets.  A number of targets will be drill-tested in 2016-17, and a pipeline of new prospects is 
being generated through geological mapping and surface geochemical analysis.   

South Australian Projects - no activities of significance occurred during the year at the Company’s Burra or 
Yorke Peninsula projects. 

Significant Changes in State Of Affairs 

There were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Group during or since the end of the year. 

Significant Events Subsequent to the end of the Financial Year 

Subsequent to year end the Company raised $1.5 million via the placement of 79 million shares to 
sophisticated and institutional investors at an issue price of 1.9 cents per share.  The Company also received 
a commitment for a further placement of $0.25 million, if approved by shareholders at the Company’s 2016 
AGM. 

Also subsequent to year-end, the Board resolved to issue 1,000,000 Shares to Company MD & CEO James Fox 
and grant him 1,250,000 Performance Rights, with both awards subject to shareholder approval at the 
Company’s 2016 AGM.  The proposed share issuance is considered by the Directors to be an appropriate 
bonus for Mr Fox’s performance over the past year as the Company’s Managing Director & CEO, and in 
particular for his leadership in advancing the Hayes Creek Project into a Pre-Feasibility Study. 

The 1,250,000 Performance Rights to be offered to Mr Fox have the following performance conditions: 

• The Company’s share price performance for the year ended 30 June 2017 must exceed that of at 
least 50% of 10 companies identified by the Directors as the Company’s peers; and 

• The Company’s closing price on the ASX is 6.0 cents or more for 15 consecutive trading days prior to 
30 June 2018. 

                                                           
4 Refer ASX release 1 February 2016 
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There has not otherwise been any matter or circumstance that has occurred subsequent to the end of the 
financial year that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Group, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Group in future financial years. 

Likely Developments  

PNX’s aim is to be a sustainable, profitable gold and base metals producer and successful explorer in the Pine 
Creek region of the NT by establishing an economic mining project at Hayes Creek and to make new mineral 
discoveries in the region. 

In 2016-17, the Group will continue mineral exploration and development of the Hayes Creek Project.  Key 
priorities include completion of a PFS at Hayes Creek, including conducting significant extensional and infill 
resource drilling.  The Company will also continue regional exploration targeting gold and base metals 
mineralisation at the Burnside, Moline and Chessman projects and expects to earn a 51% interest in these 
projects by December 2016 under the farm-in agreement with Newmarket. 

The Group aims to conclude a divestment of its Leigh Creek assets by 31 December 2016, and will continue to 
evaluate opportunities to undertake exploration programs its South Australian assets.  

Environment Regulation and Performance 

The Group continues to meet all environmental obligations across its tenements.   

Options and Performance Rights  

During the year, all Performance Rights on issue lapsed as the performance conditions were not met. 

As at the date of this report, the Group has no Performance Rights and no share options on issue. 

 Indemnification and Insurance of Directors and Officers 

The Company entered into a Deed of Access, Insurance and Indemnity with Peter Watson and Paul Dowd on 
12 November 2007, David Hillier on 22 September 2010, Graham Ascough on 11 December 2012, and James 
Fox on 26 November 2014.  Under the terms of these Deeds, the Company has undertaken, subject to 
restrictions in the Corporations Act 2001, to: 

• indemnify each Director in certain circumstances; 

• advance money to a Director for the payment of legal costs incurred by a Director in defending legal 
proceedings before the outcome of those proceedings is known (subject to an obligation by the 
Director to repay money advanced if the costs become costs in respect of which the Director is not 
entitled to be indemnified under the Deed);  

• maintain Directors’ and Officers’ insurance cover (if available) in favour of each Director whilst they 
remain a director of the Company and for a run out period after ceasing to be such a director; and  

• provide each Director with access to Board papers and other documents provided or available to the 
Director as an officer of the Company. 

Throughout and since the end of the financial year, the Company has had in place and paid premiums for 
insurance policies, with a limit of liability of $10 million, indemnifying Directors and Officers of the Company 
against certain liabilities incurred in the conduct of business or in the discharge of their duties as Directors or 
Officers.  The contracts of insurance contain confidentiality provisions that preclude disclosure of the 
premium paid. 

Directors’ attendance at Meetings 

9 Board meetings were held during the financial year. Graham Ascough, Peter Watson, David Hillier, and 
James Fox attended all 9, and Paul Dowd attended 8 meetings.  

3 Audit Committee meetings were held during the financial year.  Audit Committee members David Hillier, 
Graham Ascough and Peter Watson attended all three.  James Fox attended all three meetings by invitation, 
and Paul Dowd attended one meeting by invitation.   

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 14. 
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Non-Audit Services 

During the year, no services other than the external audit were provided by the Company’s auditor Grant 
Thornton.  

REMUNERATION REPORT – AUDITED 
 
This Report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for the Directors, Company Secretary and key 
management personnel of the Group. 

Where this report refers to the ‘Grant Date’ of Shares, Options or Performance Rights, the date mentioned is 
the date on which those Shares, Options or Performance Rights were agreed to be issued (whether 
conditionally or otherwise) or, if later, the date on which key terms of the Shares, Options or Performance 
Rights (e.g. subscription or exercise price) were determined. 

Directors and Key Management Personnel details 

The following persons acted as Directors of the Company during and since the end of the financial year: 

• Graham Ascough (Non-executive Chairman) 

• Paul Dowd (Non-executive Director) 

• Peter Watson (Non-executive Director)  

• David Hillier (Non-executive Director) 

• James Fox (Managing Director & CEO) 

The following persons were key management personnel of the Company and Group during and since the end 
of the financial year: 

• Tim Moran (Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer) 

• Andy Bennett (Exploration Manager) 

Relationship between remuneration policy and Group performance 

There is no direct link between the Group’s financial performance and the setting of remuneration except as 
discussed below in relation to Performance Rights. 

Remuneration Philosophy 

The performance of the Group depends on the quality of its Directors and management and therefore the 
Group must attract, motivate and retain appropriately qualified industry personnel. The Group embodies the 
following principles in its remuneration framework: 

• provide competitive rewards to attract and retain high calibre executives, directors and employees; 

• link executive rewards to Group financial performance and shareholder value by the granting of 
Performance Rights with performance-based vesting conditions; and 

• ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

The Group does not currently have a policy on trading in derivatives that limit exposure to losses resulting 
from share price decreases applicable to Directors and employees who receive part of their remuneration in 
securities of the Company.  The Board is not aware of any member of the Company’s directors or key 
management personnel ever conducting such activity. 

Remuneration Policy 

The Group does not have a separately established remuneration committee. The full Board acts as the 
Group’s remuneration committee. The Board is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration 
arrangements for non-executive Directors, the Managing Director & CEO, the Company Secretary and other 
senior management. The Board assesses the appropriateness of the nature and amount of remuneration of 
such persons on a periodic basis with reference to relevant employment market conditions with the overall 
objective of ensuring maximum stakeholder benefit from the retention of a high quality Board and executive 
team. External advice on remuneration matters is sought when the Board deems it necessary.  
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The remuneration of non-executive Directors and senior management is not dependent on the satisfaction of 
performance conditions, except in relation to Performance Rights as described below. 

In 2010, the Company replaced its Employee Share Option Plan with an Employee Performance Rights Plan.  
In accordance with the Performance Rights Plan the Directors can, at their discretion, grant Performance 
Rights to eligible participants. Upon a grant of Performance Rights, the Board may set vesting conditions, 
determined at the Board’s discretion, which if not satisfied will result in the lapse of the Performance Rights 
granted to the particular employee.   

Each Performance Right granted converts into one ordinary share in PNX on vesting.  No amounts are paid or 
payable by the recipient on receipt of the Performance Right, nor at vesting.  Performance Rights have no 
entitlement to dividends or voting rights.  

The Performance Rights Plan offers employees the possibility of reward without monetary cost and is less 
dilutive than the previous Employee Share Option Plan due to the lesser number of Performance Rights that 
need to be issued to achieve a similar level of reward or incentive. 

Non-Executive Director Remuneration 

The Board seeks to set remuneration of non-executive Directors at a level which provides the Company with 
the ability to attract and retain Directors of the highest calibre, whilst incurring a cost which is appropriate at 
this stage of the Company’s development. 

As non-executive Chairman, Graham Ascough is entitled to receive $75,000 per annum inclusive of 
superannuation and non-executive directors are each entitled to receive $40,000 per annum inclusive of 
superannuation. Non-executive Directors are entitled to be paid reasonable travelling, accommodation and 
other expenses incurred as a consequence of their attendance at meetings of Directors and otherwise in the 
execution of their duties as Directors. Non-executive Directors are also entitled to additional remuneration 
for extra services or special exertions, in accordance with the Company’s Constitution. There are no schemes 
for retirement benefits other than government mandated superannuation. 

As noted in the remuneration table on page 11, certain non-executive directors elected to forego part of 
their fees during the year to assist the Company to minimise corporate costs. 

Summary details of remuneration for non-executive Directors are given in the table on pages 11 and 12.  
Remuneration is not dependent on the satisfaction of performance conditions.  The maximum aggregate 
remuneration of non-executive Directors, other than for extra services or special exertions, is presently set at 
$500,000 per annum. 

Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer Remuneration 

The Group aims to reward the Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer (MD & CEO) with a level and mix 
of remuneration commensurate with his position and responsibilities within the Group to: 

• align the interests of the MD & CEO with those of shareholders; 

• through Performance Rights, link reward with the strategic goals and performance of the Group; and 

• ensure total remuneration is competitive by market standards. 

James Fox has been Chief Executive Officer of PNX since 1 May 2012 and assumed the title Managing 
Director & CEO on 26 November 2014 with his appointment to the Board.  Mr Fox is entitled to an annual 
salary of $250,000 plus mandated superannuation contributions as well as 20 days annual leave and 10 days 
sick leave per annum. 

At 30 June 2016 and as of the date of this report, Mr Fox held no Shares in the Company.  A related party of 
Mr Fox holds 3,825,000 Shares in the Company.  During the year 825,000 Performance Rights held by Mr Fox 
lapsed as the performance conditions were not met.  Mr Fox no longer holds any Performance Rights.  

James Fox’s employment with the Company may be terminated on 3 months written notice or on summary 
notice if he: 

• is charged with any criminal offence or is guilty of any other conduct which, in the reasonable 
opinion of the Board, is prejudicial to the interests of the Group;  

• is negligent in the performance of his duties; 
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• is incapacitated from performing his duties as Chief Executive Officer by illness or injury for a period 
of 2 consecutive months;  

• materially breaches any term of his contract of employment and this is not remedied within 14 days 
of notice of the breach to him by the Company; 

• materially contravenes any share dealing code relating to shares;   

• is the subject of, or causes the Company or Group to be the subject of, a material penalty or serious 
reprimand  imposed by any regulatory authority; or 

• independently acts in a manner contravening the directives and expressed wishes of the Board. 

 
Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer Remuneration 
Tim Moran has been Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary since January 2012. In June 2013, Mr 
Moran ceased as an employee of the Company and from July 2013 has provided CFO and Company Secretary 
services on a contract basis, and is therefore not entitled to any employee benefits. During the 2016 financial 
year, Mr Moran’s fees were $152,700. 

Exploration Manager Remuneration 

Andy Bennett commenced as Exploration Manger on 1 January 2015.  Mr Bennett is entitled to an annual 
salary of $195,000 plus mandated superannuation contributions, as well as 20 days annual leave and 10 days 
sick leave each year.  

During the year 675,000 Performance Rights held by Mr Bennett lapsed as the performance conditions were 
not met.  Mr Bennett no longer holds any Performance Rights. 

Andy Bennett’s employment with the Company may be terminated on 4 weeks written notice or on summary 
notice if he: 

• commits any act of misconduct or acts in a way which in the reasonable opinion of the Company 
may injure or be likely to injure the business or reputation of the Company or other employees of 
the Company; 

• is convicted of any criminal offence or is guilty of any other conduct which, in the opinion of the 
Company, may bring the Company into disrepute or affect his ability to perform his duties;  

• commits a serious, persistent or material breach of the terms and conditions of his employment 
contract; 

• refuses to carry out a lawful and reasonable instruction by the Company; 

• is negligent in the performance of his duties; 

• becomes of unsound mind or a person whose person or estate is liable to be dealt with in any way 
under laws relating to mental health; 

• becomes incapacitated by illness or injury which prevents him from performing his duties as 
Exploration Manager for a period of 3 consecutive months or any periods aggregating 3 months in 
any 12 month period of employment; or 

• is the subject of, or causes the Company or Group to be the subject of, a material penalty or serious 
reprimand imposed by any regulatory authority.  
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Remuneration of Directors and Key Management Personnel  
 

Directors’, Company Secretary and key management personnel remuneration (all amounts are paid or 
payable) for the year ended 30 June 2016:  

 Short term 
employment 

benefits 
Post-Employment Equity  

Salary & Fees Superannuation Performance 
Rights Total 

% of total 
remuneration 
consisting of 

equity 

Directors 

Graham Ascough $75,000 - - $75,000 0% 

Paul Dowd1 - $30,000 - $30,000 0% 

Peter Watson1 $27,397 $2,603 - $30,000 0% 

David Hillier $40,000 - - $40,000 0% 

James Fox $250,000 $23,750 ($5,542)2 $268,208 0% 

Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer 

Tim Moran $152,700 - - $152,700 0% 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Andy Bennett $195,000 $18,525 ($3,620) 2 $209,905 0% 

TOTALS $740,097 $74,878 ($9,162) $805,813  
1 Mr Dowd and Mr Watson waived 25% of their fees for each quarter of the financial year (total $10,000 waived each) 
2 Reflects the reversal of previously recorded equity-based compensation related to Performance Rights that ultimately 
did not vest 
 

Directors’, Company Secretary and key management personnel remuneration (all amounts are paid or 
payable) for the year ended 30 June 2015:  

 Short term 
employment 

benefits 
Post-Employment Equity  

Salary & Fees Superannuation Performance 
Rights Total 

% of total 
remuneration 
consisting of 

equity 

Directors 

Graham Ascough $75,000 - - $75,000 0% 

Paul Dowd1 $13,699 $16,301 - $30,000 0% 

Peter Watson1 $27,397 $2,603 - $30,000 0% 

David Hillier $40,000 - - $40,000 0% 
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James Fox $250,000 $23,750 $7,177 $280,927 2.5% 

Company Secretary & Chief Financial Officer 

Tim Moran $173,940 - - $173,940 0% 

Other Key Management Personnel 

Andy Bennett2 $97,500 $9,263 $3,620 $110,383 3.3% 

Nicole Galloway 
Warland3 $100,367 $8,478 - $108,845 0% 

TOTALS $777,903 $60,395 $10,797 $849,095  
1 Mr Dowd and Mr Watson waived 25% of their fees for each quarter of the financial year (total $10,000 waived each) 
2 From 1 January 2015 
3 Until 20 November 2014 
 
Other than the amounts disclosed in the columns for equity, all other remuneration amounts are fixed. 

 
Equity holdings of Directors and Key Management Personnel  

(i) Fully paid ordinary shares issued by PNX Metals Limited: 

 Balance 
01/07/15 Net Changes Balance 

30/06/16 

Directors    

Graham Ascough 439,933 1,923,077 2,363,010 

Paul Dowd 3,095,000 3,073,077 6,168,077 

Peter Watson1 7,998,000 769,231 8,767,231 

David Hillier2 510,000 920,000 1,430,000 

James Fox3 - - - 

Key Management Personnel 

Tim Moran  - - - 

Andy Bennett - - - 
   1 Additional shares held by related parties: 1,350,000 (2015: 1,350,000) 
   2 Subsequent to year-end, an entity related to Mr Hillier acquired 570,000 shares on-market 
   3 Shares held by related party: 3,825,000 (2015: 3,325,000) 

 

 
(ii) Performance rights issued by PNX Metals Limited: 

   Balance 
01/07/15 Granted Vested Lapsed Balance 

30/06/16 

      

James Fox 825,000 - - 825,000 - 

Andy 
Bennett 675,000 - - 675,000 - 
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Other related party transactions 

During the financial year the Group engaged Watsons Lawyers, an entity in which a Director (Peter Watson) 
was a partner, to advise on legal matters. The amount paid in the financial year for these services inclusive of 
GST was $46,833 (2015: $134,788).  $2,200 was owed at year end (2015: nil). 

 
End of Remuneration Report 
 
 
Signed on 20th September 2016 in accordance with a resolution of the Board made pursuant to section 
298(2) of the Corporations Act 2001. 

 

 
 

 

Graham Ascough 

Chairman 

  



Level 1, 

67 Greenhill Rd 

Wayville SA 5034 

 

Correspondence to:  

GPO Box 1270 

Adelaide SA 5001 

 

T 61 8 8372 6666 

F 61 8 8372 6677 

E info.sa@au.gt.com 

W www.grantthornton.com.au 
 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 

‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context 

requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal 

entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one another and are not liable for one another’s 

acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. 

GTIL is not an Australian related entity to Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. Liability is limited in those States where a current scheme 
applies. 

 

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 

TO THE DIRECTORS OF PNX METALS LIMITED 

 

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, as lead 

auditor for the audit of PNX Metals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2016, I declare that, to 

the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been: 

a no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 

in relation to the audit; and 

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 
 
 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

 
 
 

 

J L Humphrey  

Partner - Audit & Assurance 

 
Adelaide, 20 September 2016 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the 
year ended 30 June 2016 

  

Note 

Year Ended 

30/06/16 

$ 

Year Ended 

30/06/15 

$ 

Other income 4(a) 17,733 68,520 

    

Employee benefits  (217,826) (265,286) 

Professional fees  (298,462) (337,855) 

Directors’ fees  (175,000) (175,000) 

Exploration – tenement maintenance 11 (101,310) (53,207) 

Occupancy  4(c) (63,919) (66,954) 

Insurance   (34,649) (41,865) 

Share registry and regulatory  (61,219) (51,127) 

Communication   (11,183) (5,289) 

Audit fees 23 (28,340) (33,385) 

Equity-based remuneration 21 9,162 (10,797) 

Other expenses  (69,942) (49,462) 

Depreciation  4(b) (3,351) (32,370) 

Impairment - Exploration and evaluation assets 4(d), 11 - (1,717,891) 

Impairment – financial assets 10 - (1,229,448) 

Interest charges 14 (100,000) (100,000) 

Loss before income tax   (1,138,306) (4,101,416) 

Income tax benefit 5 245,905 - 

Loss for the year – continuing operations  (892,401) (4,101,416) 

Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax 6 (90,060) (229,883) 

Total Loss for the year  (982,461) (4,331,299) 

Other comprehensive loss:    

Change in fair value of investment – reclassified to 
Impairment Loss (tax: nil) 10,19 - 327,007 

Change in fair value of investment – may be 
reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (tax: nil) 10,19 (128,920) 128,920 

Total comprehensive loss for the year, 
attributable to equity holders of the parent  (1,111,381) (3,875,372) 

Loss Per Share – continuing operations    

 Basic and Diluted (cents per share) 28 (0.2) (1.3) 

Loss Per Share - Total    

     Basic and Diluted (cents per share) 28 (0.2) (1.4) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2016 

 
Note 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

CURRENT ASSETS    

Cash and cash equivalents 7 1,643,632 868,865 

Trade and other receivables 8 260,880 14,607 

Prepayments/deposits 9 77,913 54,927 

Other financial assets 10 257,840 386,761 

Assets Held for Sale 6 - - 

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  2,240,265 1,325,160 

NON-CURRENT ASSETS    

Exploration and evaluation expenditure 11 4,688,184 3,293,812 

Plant and equipment 12 37,470 54,154 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  4,725,654 3,347,966 

TOTAL ASSETS  6,965,919 4,673,126 

    

CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Trade and other payables 13 194,683 235,269 

Provisions 15 66,149 45,606 

TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  260,832 280,875 

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES    

Provisions 15 28,086 9,932 

Loan 14 1,200,000 1,200,000 

Deferred Revenue 16 1,600,000 - 

TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  2,828,086 1,209,932 

TOTAL LIABILITIES  3,088,918 1,490,807 

    

NET ASSETS  3,877,001 3,182,319 

    

EQUITY    

Issued capital 17 28,377,292 26,562,067 

Other contributed equity 18 600,000 600,000 

Reserves 19 - 347,193 

Accumulated losses 20 (25,100,291) (24,326,941) 

TOTAL EQUITY  3,877,001 3,182,319 

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the 
year ended 30 June 2016 

  
Issued 
capital 

 
 

Other 
Equity 

  
Reserves 

 
Accumulated 

 losses 

 
 

Total 
 $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 30 June 2014 23,557,745 600,000 (91,555) (19,995,642) 4,070,548 
Total loss for the year - - - (4,331,299) (4,331,299) 
Other comprehensive income - - 455,927 - 455,927 
Total Comprehensive Loss for the 
year - - 455,927 (4,331,299) (3,875,372) 

Shares issued 3,142,847 - - - 3,142,847 
Share issue costs (108,525) - - - (108,525) 
Interest on convertible notes (30,000) - - - (30,000) 
Fair value of equity settled 
payments - - 10,797 - 10,797 

Transfer from reserve on vesting 
of performance rights - - (27,976) - (27,976) 

Balance at 30 June 2015 26,562,067 600,000 347,193 (24,326,941) 3,182,319 

Total loss for the year - -  (982,461) (982,461) 
Other comprehensive loss - - (128,920) - (128,920) 
Total Comprehensive Loss for the 
year - - (128,920) (982,461) (1,111,381) 

Shares issued 1,863,250 - - - 1,863,250 
Share issue costs (18,025) - - - (18,025) 
Interest on convertible notes (30,000) - - - (30,000) 
Fair value of equity settled 
payments - - (9,162) - (9,162) 

Reclassification on expiry of 
options  - (209,111) 209,111 - 

Balance at 30 June 2016 28,377,292 600,000 - (25,100,291) 3,877,001 
The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the  
year ended 30 June 2016 

 Inflows/(Outflows) 

 
Year Ended 
30/06/16 

$ 

Year Ended 
30/06/15 

$ 
Cash flows relating to operating activities   

Receipts from customers - - 
Payments to suppliers and employees (1,093,243) (1,194,653) 

Net operating cash flows (1,093,243) (1,194,653) 
   

Cash flows relating to investing activities   
Interest received 19,127 36,507 
Payments for exploration activities (1,476,342) (1,288,747) 
Payments for plant and equipment - (47,551) 
Proceeds from sale of plant and equipment - 14,300 

Net investing cash flows (1,457,215) (1,285,491) 
   
Cash flows relating to financing activities   

Proceeds from metal streaming transactions 1,600,000 - 
Proceeds from share issues 1,738,250 3,009,871 
Payments for capital raising costs (13,025) (108,525) 

Net financing cash flows 3,325,225 2,901,346 
   
Net increase/(decrease) in cash 774,767 421,202 
Cash at beginning of financial year 868,865 447,663 
Cash at end of financial year 1,643,632 868,865 

   
Loss for the year (982,461) (4,331,299) 
Interest income (17,733) (38,638) 
Equity-based remuneration (9,162) 10,797 
Interest expense – equity settled 90,000 90,000 
Cash-settled interest on convertible notes – accounted for in 
equity - (15,000) 

Depreciation and amortisation 3,351 32,370 
Other income from asset disposals - (14,300) 
Impairment charges – exploration and evaluation assets - 1,717,891 
Impairment charges – investment (other financial asset) - 1,229,448 
Impairment charges - discontinued operations - 150,000 
(Increase)/decrease in operating receivables (246,798) 14,349 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 1,216 4,323 
Increase/(decrease) in operating payables 29,647 (44,743) 
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions 38,697 149 
Net operating cash flows (1,093,243) (1,194,653) 

The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes  
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 30 June 2016  

1. General information and Basis of Preparation 

PNX Metals Limited (“Company”) is a for-profit Australian publicly listed company, incorporated and 
operating in Australia.  Its registered office and principal place of business is Level 1, 135 Fullarton Road, 
Rose Park, South Australia 5067. Effective December 2015, the Company’s name was changed from 
Phoenix Copper Limited to PNX Metals Limited. 

The consolidated financial statements of PNX Metals Limited comprises the Company and its controlled 
entities (“Group”) and is a general purpose financial report prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board and the 
Corporations Act 2001.   

The consolidated financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, which is based 
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets.  All amounts are presented in 
Australian dollars, unless otherwise noted. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Directors on 19th September 2016. 

2. New and revised Accounting Standards 

None of the standards and amendments to standards that are mandatory for the first time for the 
financial year beginning 1 July 2015 had any material effect on any amounts recognised or disclosed in the 
current or prior period and are not likely to affect future periods.  

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective, and have not been 
adopted early by the Group. Management anticipates that all of the relevant pronouncements will be 
adopted in the Group's accounting policies for the first period beginning after the effective date of the 
pronouncement.  Information on several issued but not yet effective standards that may be relevant to 
the Group’s financial statements in future periods is provided below. 

Year ended 30 June 2017: AASB 2014-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 

The amendments to AASB 11 Joint Arrangements state that an acquirer of an interest in a joint operation 
in which the activity of the joint operation constitutes a ‘business’, as defined in AASB 3 Business 
Combinations, should: 

• apply all of the principles on business combinations accounting in AASB 3 and other 
Australian Accounting Standards except principles that conflict with the guidance of AASB 11.  
This requirement also applies to the acquisition of additional interests in an existing joint 
operation that results in the acquirer retaining joint control of the joint operation (note that 
this requirement applies to the additional interest only, i.e. the existing interest is not re-
measured) and to the formation of a joint operation when an existing business is contributed 
to the joint operation by one of the parties that participate in the joint operation; and 
 

• provide disclosures for business combinations as required by AASB 3 and other Australian 
Accounting Standards. 

When these amendments are first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2017, it is not expected that there 
will be a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements or on 
the notes to the financial statements. 

Year ended 30 June 2017: AASB 2015-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosure 
Initiative: Amendments to AASB 101 

This standard makes amendments to AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements.  The amendments: 

• clarify the materiality requirements in AASB 101, including an emphasis on the potentially 
detrimental effect of obscuring useful information with immaterial information 
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2.    New and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 

• clarify that AASB 101’s specified line items in the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income and the statement of financial position can be disaggregated 

• add requirements for how an entity should present subtotals in the statement of profit and 
loss and other comprehensive income and the statement of financial position 

• clarify that entities have flexibility as to the order in which they present the notes, but also 
emphasise that understandability and comparability should be considered by an entity when 
deciding that order 

• remove potentially unhelpful guidance in AASB 101 for identifying a significant accounting 
policy 

When these amendments are first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2017, it is not expected that there 
will be a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements or on 
the notes to the financial statements. 

Year ended 30 June 2019: AASB 9: Financial Instruments 

This standard introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities. These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and measurement of 
financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139.  The main changes are: 

• Financial assets that are debt instruments will be classified based on (1) the objective of the 
entity’s business model for managing the financial assets; and (2) the characteristics of the 
contractual cash flows. 

• Introduces a ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ measurement category for 
particular simple debt instruments. 

• Allows an irrevocable election on initial recognition to present gains and losses on 
investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive 
income (instead of in profit or loss).  Dividends in respect of these investments that are a 
return on investment can be recognised in profit or loss and there is no impairment or 
recycling on disposal of the instrument. 

• Financial assets can be designated and measured at fair value through profit or loss at initial 
recognition if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities, or recognising the gains 
and losses on them, on different bases. 

• Where the fair value option is used for financial liabilities the change in fair value is to be 
accounted by presenting changes in credit risk in other comprehensive income (OCI) and the 
remaining change in the statement of profit or loss. 

When this standard is first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2019, it is not expected that there will be 
a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements. 

Year ended 30 June 2019: AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

This standard replaces AASB 118 Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and some revenue-related 
Interpretations.  The new standard: 

• establishes a new revenue recognition model 
• changes the basis for deciding whether revenue is to be recognised over time or at a point in 

time 
• provides new and more detailed guidance on specific topics (e.g. multiple element 

arrangements, variable pricing, rights of return, warranties and licensing) 
• expands and improves disclosures about revenue 

When this standard is first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2019, it is not expected that there will be 
a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements. 
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2.    New and revised Accounting Standards (continued) 

Year ended 30 June 2020: AASB 16 Leases 

This standard replaces AASB 117 Leases and some lease-related Interpretations.  The new standard: 

• requires all leases to be accounted for ‘on-balance sheet’ by lessees, other than short-term 
and low value asset leases 

• provides new guidance on the application of the definition of lease and on sale and lease 
back accounting 

• largely retains the existing lessor accounting requirements in AASB 117 
• requires new and different disclosures about leases 

When this standard is first adopted for the year ending 30 June 2020, it is not expected that there will be 
a material impact on the transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements or on the notes 
to the financial statements. 

3.  Significant accounting policies  

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described below, management is required 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions. Key areas of judgement and estimation uncertainty are 
discussed in Note 3(u).   

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation of the financial report: 

a) Going Concern Basis 

The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis which contemplates the continuity 
of normal business activities and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the 
ordinary course of business. 

For the year ended 30 June 2016, the Group made a comprehensive loss of $1,111,381 (2015: loss of 
$3,875,372) and recorded a net cash outflow from operating and investing activities of $2,550,458 
(2015: net cash outflow of $2,480,144).  At 30 June 2016, the Group had cash of $1,643,632 (2015: 
$868,865), net current assets excluding the investment in Avalon Minerals Ltd of $1,721,593 (2015: 
$657,524) and net assets of $3,877,001 (2015: $3,182,319). 

The Directors believe that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis, as the Group plans to raise sufficient capital in the future to allow planned exploration and 
administrative activities to continue over at least the next 12 months. Subsequent to year-end, the 
Company raised $1.5 million via the placement of 79 million shares at $0.019 each to sophisticated 
and institutional investors, and received a commitment for a further share placement of $0.25 million 
to be approved by shareholders at the Company’s 2016 annual general meeting. 

If sufficient additional capital is not raised, the going concern basis of accounting may not be 
appropriate, and the Group may have to realise its assets and extinguish its liabilities other than in the 
ordinary course of business and at amounts different from those stated in the financial report.  No 
allowance for such circumstances has been made in the financial report. 

b) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries).  Control is achieved when the Company: 

• has power over the investee; 
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. 

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate 
that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above. 

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of are included in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of 
disposal. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is 
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
accounting policies into line with those used by other members of the Group. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses, and cash flows are eliminated in full on 
consolidation.  

c) Business combinations 

Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value which is calculated as 
the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, payables to the 
vendors, and any equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquired 
entity. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised at 
their fair value, except that: 

• Deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit 
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with AASB 112 Income taxes and 
AASB 119 Employee Benefits respectively; 

• Liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment arrangements of the acquired 
entity, or share-based payment arrangements of the Group that are entered into to replace 
share-based payment arrangements of the acquired entity, are measured in accordance with 
AASB 2 Share-based Payment at the acquisition date; and 

• Assets (or disposals groups) classified as held for sale in accordance with AASB 5 Non-current 
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that 
Standard. 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in 
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the subsequent 
measurement period, or, if applicable, additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new 
information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if 
known, would have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.  

d) Discontinued Operations & Assets Held for Sale 

Non-current assets or disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be 
recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is 
considered highly probable.  They are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value 
less costs to sell.  An impairment loss is recognised for any initial or subsequent write-down of the 
asset or disposal group to fair value less costs to sell.  Non-current assets that are part of a disposal 
group are not depreciated or amortised while they are classified as held for sale. 

Assets of the disposal group held for sale are presented separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity that has been disposed of or is classified as 
held for sale and that represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operation.  
The results of discontinued operations are presented separately in the Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income. 

e) Revenue  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. 
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Sale of goods 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the following conditions are satisfied: 

• the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the 
goods; 

• the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated 
with ownership nor effective control over the goods sold; 

• the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 
• it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; 

and 
• the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

Royalties based on revenue from the sale of goods are accrued as payables in the same period as the 
related revenue is recognised.  

Deferred Revenue 

Cash received from the forward sale of metal from future mining projects is accounted for as a long-
term liability until such time as the metal is delivered.  Deferred revenue amounts are recognised as 
revenue from the sale of goods in the period that the related metal is delivered. 

Interest 

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, with reference to the principal balance and at the effective 
interest rate applicable, which is that rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts 
through the expected life of the financial asset to the asset’s net carrying amount. 

f) Government Grants 

Government grants that are received or receivable as direct compensation for mineral exploration 
expenditure already incurred are recognised as a reduction in the accumulated cost of the relevant 
exploration and evaluation asset.  

g) Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, cash held at financial institutions and bank deposits 
with a maturity of less than 3 months.  

h) Financial Assets 

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value 
through profit or loss’, ‘held to maturity investments’, ‘loans and receivables’, and ‘available for sale 
financial assets’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial asset and is 
determined at the time of initial recognition. 

Other Financial Assets – Available for Sale 

Other financial assets are those that are not held for trading and have no fixed maturity date.  These 
assets are initially measured at fair value and any subsequent changes in fair value prior to disposal 
are recognised in other comprehensive income.  Upon disposal, the cumulative balance in the reserve 
in equity is reclassified to the income statement. 

Loans and Receivables 

Trade receivables and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market are classified as ‘Trade and other receivables’.  Trade and other receivables 
are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. 

Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate.  

Effective interest method 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly  



PNX Metals Limited (ASX: PNX) Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

24 

 

3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where 
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition of the financial asset. 

Impairment of financial assets 

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  
Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, the estimated future cash flows have been 
impacted.  

For available for sale (AFS) financial assets carried at fair value, the amount of any impairment is 
recorded in profit and loss, including any cumulative loss carried in other comprehensive income with 
the latter recorded as a reclassification adjustment.  Any further decline in the fair value of the AFS 
asset is recorded as an impairment loss.  Subsequent increases in the carrying value of the AFS asset 
are not reversed back through profit and loss, but rather are recorded in other comprehensive 
income. 

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
original effective interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
assets except trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance 
account. When a trade receivable is determined to be uncollectible, it is written off against the 
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit 
or loss. 

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was first recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the 
asset at the date of impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been 
had the impairment not been recognised. 

i) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure and Mineral Rights 

Exploration and evaluation expenditure and mineral rights in relation to each separate area of interest 
are recognised as an asset in the year in which they are incurred or acquired and where the following 
conditions are satisfied: 

i. the rights to tenure of the area of interest are current; and 

ii. at least one of the following conditions is also met: 

• the exploration and evaluation expenditure is expected to be recouped through 
successful development of the mineral exploration project, or alternatively, by its sale;  

or 

• exploration and evaluation activities in the area of interest have not at the reporting 
date reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of 
economically recoverable reserves, and active and significant operations in, or in 
relation to, the area of interest are continuing.  

Exploration and evaluation assets and mineral rights are initially measured at cost and include the 
acquisition cost of rights to explore, studies, exploration drilling, trenching and sampling and 
associated activities.  General and administrative costs are only included in the measurement of 
exploration and evaluation assets where they relate directly to operational activities in a particular 
area of interest. 

Exploration and evaluation assets and mineral rights are assessed for impairment when facts and 
circumstances (as defined in AASB 6 Exploration for and Evaluation of Mineral Resources) suggest that 
the asset’s carrying amount may exceed its recoverable amount.  The recoverable amount of  
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3.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

exploration and evaluation assets and mineral rights (or the cash-generating unit to which they have 
been allocated, being no larger than the relevant area of interest), is determined in accordance with 
AASB 136 Impairment of Assets, being the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  If the 
recoverable amount as determined is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in 
previous years.  

Where a decision is made to proceed with development in respect of a particular area of interest, the 
relevant exploration and evaluation asset is tested for impairment, reclassified to development 
properties, and then amortised over the life of the reserves associated with the area of interest once 
mining operations have commenced. 

j) Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. 
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the item. In the event that 
settlement of all or part of the purchase consideration is deferred, cost is determined by discounting 
the amounts payable in the future to their present value as at the date of acquisition. 

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment. Depreciation is calculated on a straight line basis so 
as to write off the cost of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each 
annual reporting period. 

Estimated useful lives of 3-5 years are used in the calculation of depreciation for plant and equipment. 

k) Impairment of assets (other than Financial Assets, Exploration and Evaluation Assets and Mineral 
Rights) 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 
unit to which the asset belongs.  

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in 
use, estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
which have not already been incorporated into the future cash flows estimates. 

If the recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is estimated to be less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating unit is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset or cash-generating 
unit is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but only to the extent that the 
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount had no impairment loss been 
recognised in prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss. 

l) Trade and Other Payables 

Liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group are recognised initially at their fair value and 
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Trade and other payables are 
unsecured. 

m) Debt and equity Instruments  

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either liabilities or as equity in accordance with the 
substance of the contractual arrangement.  An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.  Contracts settled via the 
delivery of a fixed number of equity instruments in the Company in exchange for cash or other assets 
are accounted for as equity instruments.  Equity instruments issued by the Group are recorded at the 
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 

n) Employee benefits 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and long service leave when it is probable that settlement will be required and amounts are 
capable of being measured reliably.   

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are 
measured at their nominal values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of 
settlement.   

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 
months are measured as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the 
Group in respect of services provided by employees up to reporting date.  The present value is 
calculated using a discount rate that references market yields on high quality corporate bonds that 
have maturity dates that approximate the timing of the estimated future cash flows. 

Contributions to accumulated benefit superannuation plans are expensed when incurred. 

o) Site Restoration and Rehabilitation Provision 

Provision for the costs of mine and environmental restoration and rehabilitation are recognised when 
the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) to perform restoration activities, it is 
probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made 
of the amount of the obligation. 

Restoration and rehabilitation provisions are measured as the present value of estimated future cash 
flows to perform the rehabilitation activities, discounted at pre-tax rate that reflects market 
assessments of the time value of money and risks specific to the rehabilitation obligation. 

p) Share-based payments 

Equity-settled share-based payments made to employees and directors are measured at fair value at 
the grant date, which is the date on which the equity instruments were agreed to be issued (whether 
conditionally or otherwise) or, if later, the date on which key terms (e.g. subscription or exercise 
price) were determined.  Fair value is determined using the Black-Scholes model or another binomial 
model, depending on the type of equity instrument issued.   

The fair value of the equity instruments at grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of the number of equity instruments that will 
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase to the equity settled benefits reserve in shareholders’ 
equity. 

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with other parties are measured at the fair value of 
the goods and services received, except where the fair value cannot be estimated reliably, in which 
case the transactions are measured at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured at 
the date the Group obtains the goods or the counterparty renders the service. 

q) Leases 

Operating lease payments made by the Group are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis 
over the lease term, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time 
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising 
under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 

r) Income tax 

Income tax expense represents the sum of tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Current tax 

Current tax is calculated with reference to the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in 
respect of the taxable profit or tax loss for the financial year. It is calculated using tax rates and tax 
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Current tax for current 
and prior periods is recognised as a liability (or asset) to the extent that it is unpaid (or refundable). 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is accounted for in respect of temporary differences arising from differences between 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for accounting purposes and the corresponding tax base 
of those items. 

In principle, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable amounts will be available 
against which deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses and tax offsets can be utilised.  

However, deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary differences giving rise 
to them arise from the initial recognition of assets and liabilities (other than as a result of a business 
combination) which affects neither taxable income nor accounting profit.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the 
period(s) when the assets or liabilities giving rise to them are realised or settled, based on tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by reporting date. The measurement 
of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner 
in which the Group expects, at the reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of the 
related assets and liabilities.  

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

Current and deferred tax recognition  

Current and deferred tax is recognised as an expense or income in the Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income, except when it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity 
(in which case the deferred tax is also recognised directly in equity), or where it arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination. 

Tax consolidation  

The Company and its wholly-owned Australian resident entities are part of a tax-consolidated group 
under Australian taxation law.  The members of the tax consolidated group are disclosed in Note 29.  
PNX Metals Limited is the head entity in the tax-consolidated group.  Tax expense/income, deferred 
tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from temporary differences of the members of the tax-
consolidated group are recognised in the separate financial statements of the members of the tax-
consolidated group using the ‘separate taxpayer within group’ approach.  Current tax liabilities and 
assets and deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and tax credits of the members of the 
tax-consolidated group are recognised by the Company (as the head entity in the tax-consolidated 
group). 

Under a tax funding arrangement between the entities in the tax-consolidated group, amounts 
transferred from entities within the tax consolidated group and recognised by the Company (‘tax 
contribution amounts’) are recorded in intercompany accounts in accordance with the arrangement.   

Where the tax contribution amount recognised by a member of the tax-consolidated group for a 
particular period is different to the aggregate of the current tax liability or asset and any deferred tax 
asset arising from unused tax losses and tax credits in respect of that period, the difference is 
recognised as a contribution from (or distribution to) the group member. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

s) Goods and service tax 

Revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax 
(GST), except: 

I. where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, in 
which case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of an asset or as part of an 
item of expense; or 

II. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of 
receivables or payables. 

Cash flows are included in the cash flow statement on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the 
taxation authority is classified as operating cash flows. 

t) Earnings Per Share 

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the 
Company (excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares) by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share 
to take into account: 

• the after tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
ordinary shares; and 

• the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

u) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying values of assets, liabilities and equity.  These estimates 
and assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstance, the results of which form the basis for making judgements.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only the 
current period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. 

The following are the critical judgements that management has made in the process of applying the 
Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in 
the financial statements. 

Impairment  

Determining whether assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use or fair value of 
the assets or cash-generating units to which assets are allocated.  The value in use calculation 
requires the entity to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the asset or cash-
generating unit and apply a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. 

In the prior year, an impairment loss of $1,717,891 was recognised in relation to Exploration and 
Evaluation Assets and a prior year impairment charge of $150,000 was also recorded in relation to 
Assets Held for Sale.  Details of the prior year impairment loss calculations are provided in Notes 11 
and 6 respectively. 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Restoration and rehabilitation provision 

The site restoration and rehabilitation provision require estimates of future cash flows to meet the 
costs of rehabilitation activities and the application of a discount rate in order to determine the 
present value of those cash flows.  Refer to Note 6 Assets Held for Sale (loss from discontinued 
operations) for further detail on the basis for the restoration and rehabilitation provision. 

Equity-based payments 

The determination of the fair value at grant date of options and performance rights utilises a financial 
asset pricing model with a number of assumptions, the most critical of which is an estimate of the 
Company’s future share price volatility.  Refer to Note 21 for detail on assumptions made regarding 
equity-based payments made during the year.  
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4. LOSS FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS  

  

Year Ended 

30/06/16 

$ 

Year Ended 

30/06/15 

$ 

 a) Other income   

  Interest on bank deposits 17,733 38,638 

       Asset sales - 14,300 

  Exploration personnel & equipment hire - 5,460 

  Other - 10,122 

  17,733 68,520 

    

 b) Depreciation   

 Depreciation of plant and equipment 3,351 32,370 

 c) Occupancy   

 Operating lease rental expenses 63,919 66,954 

 d) Impairment   

 Exploration and evaluation assets - 1,717,891 

 

  5. INCOME TAX  

  

Year Ended 

30/06/16 

$ 

Year Ended 

30/06/15 

$ 

 (a) Income tax recognised in profit or loss   

 Current tax expense/(benefit) - - 

 Deferred tax expense/(benefit) (245,905) - 

 Total tax expense/(benefit) (245,905) - 

    

 
The prima facie income tax benefit on the loss before income 
tax reconciles to the tax expense/(benefit) in the financial 
statements as follows: 

  

 Total loss for the year before tax (1,228,366) 4,331,299 

 Income tax benefit calculated at 30% (368,510) (1,299,390) 

 Equity-based remuneration (2,749) 3,239 

 Current year tax losses and movements in temporary 
differences not recognised 371,259 1,296,151 

 Recognition of research and development tax refund related to 
the previous tax year (245,905) - 

 Tax expense (benefit) (245,905) - 



PNX Metals Limited (ASX: PNX) Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

31 

 

 
The tax rate used in the above reconciliation is the corporate tax rate of 30% payable by Australian 
corporate entities on taxable profits under Australian tax law. There has been no change in the corporate 
tax rate when compared with the previous reporting period. 

  

 (b)   Recognised tax assets and liabilities 

 Deferred tax assets and (liabilities) are attributable to the following: 

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Other financial assets - 330,158 

 Exploration and evaluation expenditure (1,372,829) (956,944) 

 Plant and equipment (11,241) (16,246) 

 Mineral Rights* (123,075) (69,037) 

 Trade and other payables 13,717 12,741 

 Employee benefits 28,271 16,661 

 Restoration and rehabilitation provision* 168,075 168,075 

 Share issue costs 25,015 49,867 

 Net deferred tax liabilities (1,272,068) (464,725) 

 Tax losses recognised 1,272,068 464,725 

 Net deferred tax assets / (liabilities) - - 

*part of Assets Held for Sale in the Statement of Financial Position 

 

(c) Unrecognised tax losses: 

A deferred tax asset has not been recognised in respect of the following: 

 
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Tax Losses – operating, at 30% potential benefit 7,284,639 7,406,862 

 Tax Losses – capital, at 30% potential benefit 115,307 115,307 

 

Of the total operating tax losses in the Group at 30 June 2016 of approximately $28.5 million, $25.5 million 
are unrecognised as shown above ($7.3 million tax effected at 30%).  A deferred tax asset has not been 
recognised in respect of these losses because it is not considered probable at this time that future taxable 
profit will be available against which to utilise the losses. 
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6. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Assets Held for Sale - - 

In 2014, the Company formally commenced a sale process for its three mining leases near Leigh Creek, and 
associated assets and liabilities.  The preferred manner of sale is through a 100% disposition of the 
Company’s subsidiary Leigh Creek Copper Mine Pty Ltd (‘LCCM’). 

Mining and production operations at Leigh Creek have been on care and maintenance since January 2012, 
during which time the Company conducted studies into alternative copper leaching methods before formally 
putting the assets for sale.   

In April 2015, the Company executed an Option and Sale Agreement with Hillsgold Resources Pty Ltd, now 
Resilience Mining Australia Limited (RMA), regarding LCCM.  Under the Agreement, RMA has the option to 
acquire LCCM as well as two exploration licences held by the Company near LCCM’s mining leases, in return 
for preparing and submitting to the State government updated environmental plans (PEPRs) for the three 
mining leases, and also preparing certain feasibility studies on the leases, within 9 months of the date of the 
Agreement.  These obligations were fulfilled by RMA in January 2016. 

RMA has yet to exercise the option, which expires in mid-October 2016. 

Should RMA exercise the option, it will acquire LCCM, and the two exploration licences mentioned, from the 
Company for nil up-front consideration (other than the assumption of the rehabilitation obligations at 
Mountain of Light) and a contingent payment to the Company of $100,000 if and when 3,000 tonnes of 
copper are produced from future operations at the three mining leases. 

As a formal sale process is ongoing, the disposal group has been classified as a single current asset in the 
Statement of Financial Position, and the loss incurred on these discontinued operations has been shown in 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a separate line. 

Detail of the loss from discontinued operations: 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Mine site maintenance 90,060 79,883 

 Impairment - 150,000 

 Loss – discontinued operations 90,060 229,883 

    

 Loss per share (cents) basic and diluted 0.02 0.10 

    

 Cash outflows 90,060 79,883 

Prior year impairment 

Given the continuing lack of interest in small-scale mining projects both within the industry and in the wider 
investment community, the fair value of the Leigh Creek net asset disposal group was re-assessed during the 
previous financial year.  It was determined that based on estimated net disposal proceeds from an arm’s 
length transaction of nil (ie disposal of assets and liabilities for a net nil sum), the fair value was zero and as 
such an impairment charge of $150,000 was recorded.  

That figure continues to be management’s best estimate at 30 June 2016 of the overall recoverable amount, 
and is consistent with what would be received from RMA, should they exercise the option to acquire LCCM. 
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Detail of the assets and liabilities of the disposal group at 30 June 2016: 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Assets   

 Environmental deposit1 150,000 150,000 

 Plant  & equipment  - cost 3,634,902 3,634,902 

 Plant & equipment – accumulated depreciation (3,634,902) (3,634,902) 

 Mineral rights2 410,250 410,250 

 Total Assets 560,250 560,250 

 Liabilities   

 Rehabilitation3 (560,250) (560,250) 

 Net asset carrying value - - 
1 The environmental deposit is held by the South Australian government as a condition of the mining leases 
held by the Group.  The deposit will be returned to the Group upon satisfactory rehabilitation of its mining 
leases.  Interest on the deposit does not accrue to the Group. 
2 Mineral rights are amortised as the resource is mined. No mining has occurred since 2011. 
3 The provision for site restoration and rehabilitation is based on the estimated future costs of dismantling 
plant and equipment and performing site rehabilitation at the Group’s Mountain of Light copper mine, 
discounted at a risk-adjusted risk-free rate. 

 

  7. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Cash at bank 493,632 218,865 

 Term deposits 1,150,000 650,000 

  1,643,632 868,865 

At year end, term deposits were invested for 90 days earning 2.9% annual interest. 

 

8. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES  

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Interest 1,918 3,312 

 Research & Development Tax Incentive  245,905 - 

 Goods & Services Tax 12,046 11,179 

 Other 1,011 116 

  260,880 14,607 
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  9. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Prepayments 19,018 22,167 

 Environmental Deposits – Northern Territory 26,135 - 

 Deposit – office bond 32,760 32,760 

  77,913 54,927 

Environmental deposits are required to be lodged with the Department of Mines and Energy in the Northern 
Territory prior to the commencement of exploration activities on mineral leases and exploration licences. 

The office bond is invested in a 365 day term deposit maturing February 2017 and earning 2.9% interest. 

 

10. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Investment in Avalon Minerals Ltd 257,840 386,761 

The Company continues to hold 12,892,013 shares in ASX listed Avalon Minerals Limited (Avalon). 

At each reporting period, the carrying value of the investment in Avalon is revalued to fair value, based on 
the market value of Avalon Minerals Limited’s shares at that time.  At the half year, the investment was 
revalued down $128,920 through Other Comprehensive Income/Loss (OCI), reducing the fair value 
movements reserve in Equity to zero. 

At 30 June 2016, the investment fair value had not materially changed from that at the half year.  

Prior year impairment 

In the prior year, an impairment charge of $1,229,448 was recorded to reduce the carrying value of the 
investment in Avalon to fair value, based on the market value of Avalon Minerals Limited’s shares at that 
time.  The impairment was recorded in profit or loss in accordance with AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, due to the significant and prolonged decline in Avalon’s share price in 
comparison to the Company’s average cost of the investment.  The impairment charge included a 
reclassification of $327,007 from OCI representing the decline in the value of the Avalon investment initially 
recorded in OCI as a loss in the 2014 financial year. 

In accordance with the requirements of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement, and consistent with prior 
periods, the fair value of the investment in Avalon is determined with reference to its quoted market price 
(a ‘Level 1’ measurement standard per AASB 13) on the ASX. 

 

11. EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE 

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Costs brought forward 3,293,812 3,633,957 

 Expenditure incurred during the year 1,495,682 1,430,953 

 Recognised as an expense (tenements previously impaired) (101,310) (53,207) 

 Impairment charges - (1,717,891) 

  4,688,184 3,293,812 
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Virtually all expenditure during the year related to exploration activity and project development on the 
Group’s Northern Territory projects.   

In August 2014, the Company executed an agreement with Crocodile Gold Australia Pty Ltd, now Newmarket 
Gold NT Holdings Pty Ltd (Newmarket Gold), a subsidiary of Canadian-listed Newmarket Gold Inc., for the 
acquisition of 14 mineral leases in the Northern Territory, and a farm-in arrangement whereby the Company 
can earn up to 90% in 21 (now 19) exploration licences and 4 mineral leases, also in the Northern Territory.   

Consideration for the purchase of the mineral leases was $1 plus a 2% royalty on the market value of any 
future production of gold and silver from the leases (all other metals are excluded from the royalty).  
Payment of $500,000, either in cash or shares at the Company’s election, is due if a bankable feasibility study 
is completed on any of the acquired or farm-in tenements.  

Newmarket Gold retains a 30% claw-back right over the acquired tenements by paying PNX three times the 
Company’s accumulated expenditure on the tenements, and can also re-acquire 90% of any gold or silver 
deposits with a JORC compliant resource on the farm-in tenements by paying PNX three times the Company’s 
accumulated expenditure on the deposit(s).  

The acquired mineral leases include the Iron Blow and Mt Bonnie base metals and gold deposits contained 
within the Hayes Creek project.   

The farm-in tenements include the Burnside, Moline and Chessman base metals and gold exploration 
projects.  Under the terms of the farm-in, PNX can earn a 51% interest in the farm-in tenements with 
expenditure of $2 million over 2 years (to 15 December 2016) , and can then elect to increase its interest to 
90% with expenditure of an additional $2 million over a further 2 year period.  $500,000 of the expenditure 
requirements for each 2 year period may be spent on the acquired mineral leases.  As at 30 June 2016, total 
expenditure for the purposes of the farm-in was approximately $1.5 million. 

Prior year Impairment 

At 30 June 2015, an impairment charge of $1,717,891 was recognised in relation to the Group’s Burra Central 
and Yorke Peninsula exploration tenements in South Australia.  The fair value less costs to sell of these 
projects was assessed as $2 million, based on their estimated value in an arms-length sale transaction in 
market conditions at that time. 

The fair value of the Company’s South Australian tenements continues to be assessed at $2 million on the 
same basis, given market conditions are largely similar to that of one year ago and there have been no events 
otherwise impacting on the assessed fair value. 

  12. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 Cost $       

 Balance at 30 June 2014 489,216 

 Additions 47,551 

       Disposals (96,532) 

 Balance at 30 June 2015 440,235 

 Additions - 

       Disposals - 

 Balance at 30 June 2016 440,235 

   

 Accumulated Depreciation  

 Balance at 30 June 2014 450,243 

 Depreciation Expense 32,370 

 Disposals (96,532) 
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 Balance at 30 June 2015 386,081 

 Depreciation Expense (3,351) 

       Depreciation capitalised to exploration assets (13,333) 

       Disposals - 

 Balance at 30 June 2016 402,765 

   

 Net book value – Plant and Equipment  

 Balance at 30 June 2015 54,154 

 Balance at 30 June 2016 37,470 

The useful lives applied in the determination of depreciation for all items of plant and equipment is 3-5 years. 

  

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Trade payables 87,525 134,083 

 Accrued expenses 82,072 78,319 

 Other payables 25,086 22,867 

  194,683 235,269 

Average credit period on trade payables is 30 days. 

 

14. LOAN 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Loan 1,200,000 1,200,000 

The key terms of the Company’s $1.2 million loan are as follows: 

• Loan funding must be used to acquire shares in Avalon Minerals Limited 

• Maturity date of 6 November 2019 (extended from 6 November 2016 in May 2016) 

• Unsecured 

• 7.5% annual interest rate, payable in cash or ordinary shares of the Company, at the option of 
the Company 

• Principal is to be repaid via the remittance of net proceeds from the sale of any of the shares in 
Avalon acquired using the loan proceeds, up to the $1.2m loan principal.  If the cash proceeds 
available to the Company through the sale of Avalon shares are insufficient to repay the loan 
principal amount by the maturity date, any shortfall may be repaid via the issue of shares in 
the Company.  If the shares in Avalon have not been disposed of by the maturity date, the loan 
is repayable in cash. 

Interest charges of $100,000 (2015: $100,000) were incurred on the loan during the year, of which $10,000 
(2015: $10,000) consisted of withholding tax remitted to the Australian Taxation Office.  Interest payable on 
a 6-monthly basis was settled on both occasions by issuing shares; refer to Note 17(b) for further detail. 
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15. PROVISIONS   

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Current   

 Employee benefits 66,149 45,606 

 Non-current   

 Employee benefits 28,086 9,932 

  

16. DEFERRED REVENUE 

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Metal streaming receipts 1,600,000 - 

On 7 June 2016, the Company entered into identical metal streaming and royalty agreements with two 
investors.  The key terms of the agreements are as follows: 

• $800,000 received from each investor for the forward sale of 112,000 troy ounces of silver 
($7.14/oz) 
 

• Silver to be delivered at a rate of 14,000 oz per quarter (56,000 oz per year) for 2 years once 
commissioning and ramp up of the Hayes Creek Project is complete   
 

• At the end of the two year silver delivery period, each investor receives a 0.24% Net Smelter Return 
(NSR) royalty.  The NSR royalty applies in respect of gold and silver produced from the Hayes Creek 
Project, and will be paid for a 5 year period from the end of the silver delivery period.  PNX can buy 
back the NSR royalty from an investor prior to production commencing for $0.27 million. 
 

• Each investor has an option, to be exercised within 3 months of completion of the pre-feasibility 
study over the Hayes Creek Project, to purchase an additional 56,000 oz of silver for $0.4 million.  
This silver is to be delivered over a further one year period.   In this scenario the NSR increases to 
0.36% and buy-back amount increases to $0.4 million 
 

• If production at the Hayes Creek Project has not commenced within 5 years and PNX or an investor 
elects to terminate the agreement, the forward payment made by that investor ($0.8 million, or 
$1.2 million, if the option has been exercised) converts to PNX shares based on a 30 day VWAP.  The 
NSR royalty will also apply in these circumstances for 5 years from when production commences on 
any of the mineral leases making up the Hayes Creek project 
 

• If shareholder approval and/or Foreign Investment Review Board approval is required but not 
received in relation to the conversion to shares then the applicable forward payment is to be repaid 
in cash 
 

The $1.6 million of cash received has been accounted for as deferred revenue, classified in the Statement of 
Financial Position as a long-term liability.  Revenue will be recognised as the silver is delivered in the future. 

Approximately $28,000 in legal fees were incurred in finalising the agreements, which have been recorded in 
profit and loss. 
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17. ISSUED CAPITAL   

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

  507,783,980 fully paid ordinary shares (2015: 357,256,457)  28,377,292 26,562,067 

 
Movement in ordinary shares for the year: 

 
 No. 

30/06/16 

$ 
No. 

30/06/15 

$ 

Ref Balance at beginning of year 357,256,457 26,562,067 210,052,258 23,557,745 

a Shares issued to settle interest on 
convertible notes 2,382,318 30,000 872,094 15,000 

b Shares issued to settle interest on loan 7,029,817 90,000 4,152,926 90,000 

c Shares issued at 1.3 cents 114,865,388 1,493,250 - - 

c Shares issued at 0.95 cents 26,250,000 250,000 - - 

d Shares issued on vesting of performance 
rights, and transfer from equity settled 
benefits reserve to share capital 

- - 750,000 27,976 

e Shares issued at 1.3 cents - - 24,300,000 315,900 

f Shares issued at 2.3 cents, Rights Issue - - 117,129,179 2,693,971 

g Interest on convertible notes – reduction 
in share capital - (30,000) - (30,000) 

 Share issue costs - (18,025) - (108,525) 

 Balance at end of year 507,783,980 28,377,292 357,256,457 26,562,067 

 

Fully paid shares carry one vote per share and a right to dividends. 

a) Shares were issued in November 2015 and May 2016 at the Company’s preceding 30 day volume-
weighted average share price (VWAP) of 1.2 and 1.3 cents respectively to settle a total of $30,000 of 
interest payable on convertible notes. 

In the prior year, shares were issued in May 2015 at the Company’s preceding 30 day VWAP of 1.7 
cents to settle $15,000 of interest payable on convertible notes. 

b) Shares were issued in November 2015 and May 2016 at the Company’s 30 day VWAP of 1.4 cents and 
1.2 cents respectively (2015: 2.9 cents and 1.7 cents) to settle a total of $90,000 of interest payable 
on the Company’s $1.2 million loan. 

c) During the year shares were issued to sophisticated investors and company directors at 1.3 cents 
(September and November 2015, 114,865,388 shares) raising $1.49 million before costs and to 
sophisticated investors at 0.95 cents (April 2016, 26,250,000 shares), raising $250,000. 

d) Prior year: 375,000 ordinary shares were issued to a related party of the Company’s Chief Executive 
Officer in August 2014 following the vesting of an equivalent number of performance rights that were 
originally issued in September 2013.  A further 375,000 ordinary shares were issued to a related party 
of the Company’s CEO in November 2014 following the vesting of an equivalent number of 
performance rights that were issued in September 2014. 

e) Prior year: 24,300,000 ordinary shares were issued to sophisticated and professional investors in 
August 2014 at 1.3 cents raising $315,900 before costs. 



PNX Metals Limited (ASX: PNX) Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

39 

 

f) Prior year: 117,129,179 shares were issued in October and November at 2.3 cents raising $2.69 
million before costs under a one-for-two non-renounceable pro-rata Rights Issue, including 6,260,693 
shares placed with sophisticated investors within 90 days of the closing of the offer.  

g) Interest paid by issuing shares on convertible notes has been accounted for as a reduction in share 
capital, consistent with the treatment of the convertible notes as an equity item (refer Note 18 for 
further detail). 

 

18. OTHER CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 

  
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Convertible notes – equity settled 600,000 600,000 

The Group has on issue 600,000 unsecured convertible notes at a price of $1 per note.  The key terms of the 
notes are as follows: 

• Convertible at the option of either the Company or the note holders, for 20 ordinary fully paid 
shares per note 

• Interest accrues at 5% per annum, payable in cash or ordinary shares (based on the Company’s 30 
day VWAP preceding the end of each interest period) semi-annually at the option of the Company  

• Any unconverted notes automatically convert into ordinary shares, at the rate of 20 ordinary shares 
per note, on the maturity date of 22 May 2019 (extended from 22 May 2016 in May 2016) 

• Redeemable in cash at the option of the Company at the end of each calendar quarter during the 18 
month period after issuance (subject to an interest premium of 2.5% for early redemption)  

As the notes will be settled by way of the issue of a fixed number of shares in the Company (unless the 
Company elects to settle in cash as noted above), the notes have been accounted for as a separate 
component of shareholders’ equity.   

Semi-annual interest payable of $15,000 was settled in November 2015 and in May 2016 by issuing shares as 
outlined in Note 17(a). 

19. RESERVES   

 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Equity-settled benefits reserve  - 218,273 

 Fair value movements reserve - 128,920 

  - 347,193 

The equity-settled benefits reserve arises on the vesting of performance rights and share options granted to 
employees, consultants and executives under the Employee Performance Rights Plan and (previous) 
Employee Share Option Plan.  It also reflects the fair value at grant date of options issued in conjunction with 
ordinary shares for capital raising purposes. 

Amounts are transferred out of the reserve and into issued capital when the rights are converted into shares 
or options are exercised, or to accumulated losses when rights or options lapse.  Further information on 
share based payments is disclosed in Note 21. 

The decrease in the equity settled benefits reserve for the year consists of: 

• $209,111 reclassified to accumulated losses on the expiry of options (refer Note 21) 

• $9,162 recorded in profit and loss as an expense recovery upon the lapsing of performance rights 
that did not vest as the performance conditions were not met (Note 21) 

 



PNX Metals Limited (ASX: PNX) Annual Report for the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

40 

 

The fair value movements reserve relates to the Company’s investment in Avalon Minerals Ltd.  During the 
year the reserve decreased $128,920 reflecting the downward movement in the market value of the 
investment in Avalon since 30 June 2015, as outlined in Note 10. 

20. ACCUMULATED LOSSES   

 

 
 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Balance at beginning of year  24,326,941 19,995,642 

 Loss for the year 982,461 4,331,299 

 Transfer from equity settled benefits reserve regarding 
options that expired unexercised (209,111) - 

 Balance at end of year 25,100,291 24,326,941 

 

21. SHARE OPTIONS AND PERFORMANCE RIGHTS 

In 2010, the Group replaced the Employee Share Option Plan with the PNX Metals Limited Employee 
Performance Rights Plan (PRP).  Under the PRP, the Directors may issue performance rights to Company 
executives, employees and consultants.  Performance rights are granted for no monetary consideration and 
entitle the holder to be issued one fully paid ordinary share per performance right upon vesting.    

September 2014 Rights 

In September 2014, 1,200,000 Performance Rights were issued to the Company’s CEO, with performance 
conditions covering the period to 30 June 2016: 

• achievement of a capital raise in excess of $2 million by 30 December 2014 (375,000 Rights); 

• a discovery defined by two drill holes spaced a minimum of 75 metres apart with ore-grade 
mineralisation by 30 June 2016 (375,000 Rights); and 

• at the Hayes Creek project, double the contained metal of the existing foreign resource estimate at 
Iron Blow through the definition of additional resources within a 10km radius of the existing deposit 
by 30 June 2016 (450,000 Rights). 

The achievement of each of the performance conditions was subject to Board approval.  The Board also had 
discretion to amend the allocation of Performance Rights to each condition by up to 50%; however, the total 
number of Performance Rights that could vest was fixed at 1,200,000. 

375,000 shares were issued in November 2014 as the performance condition of a minimum $2 million capital 
raise prior to 30 December 2014 was met on 7 November 2014, following the issue of shares under a non-
renounceable rights issue.   

The remaining 825,000 rights lapsed on 30 June 2016 as the performance conditions were not met. 

January 2015 Rights 

In January 2015, 750,000 performance rights were issued to the Company’s Exploration Manager with the 
following performance conditions: 

• Completion of a scoping study on the Hayes Creek project including defining an initial resource 
estimate at Mount Bonnie of greater than 1 million tonnes by 31 December 2015 (187,500 Rights);  

• Increase in the market capitalisation of the Company to >$20 million, measured on a 20 day VWAP 
basis, by 30 June 2015 (75,000 Rights); 

• A discovery, defined by two drill holes spaced a minimum of 75 metres apart with ore-grade 
mineralisation, at a new prospect by 30 June 2016 (225,000 Rights); and 

• At the Hayes Creek project, double the contained metal of the current JORC 2012 resource estimate 
at Iron Blow through the definition of additional resources within a 10km radius by 30 June 2016 
(262,500 Rights). 
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The achievement of each of the performance conditions was subject to Board approval.  The Board also had 
discretion to amend the allocation of Performance Rights to each condition by up to 50%; however, the total 
number of Performance Rights that could vest was fixed at 750,000.   

At 30 June 2015, it was determined that the performance conditions relating to 75,000 rights (second bullet 
point above) were not met and therefore the rights lapsed at that time.   

The remaining 675,000 rights lapsed on 30 June 2016 as the performance conditions were not met. 

During the year, share-based payment expense of negative $9,162 (2015: 10,797) was recorded in relation to 
the Performance Rights described above, effectively reversing the majority of the expense recorded in the 
previous year related to those Rights that ultimately did not vest.   

Options 

At the discretion of the Directors, and subject to shareholder approval, Options to acquire shares can and 
have been issued, for example as part of corporate and asset acquisitions or as part of a capital raising 
process. 

The following table reconciles outstanding Options from the beginning to the end of the financial year: 

Options 30/06/16 30/06/15 

 Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

Number of 
options 

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

Balance at beginning of the year  1,250,000 0.27 1,250,000 0.27 

Options granted - - - - 

Options exercised or lapsed (1,250,000) (0.27) - - 

Balance at end of the year  - - 1,250,000 0.27 

 

22. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURE 

The key management personnel of the Group during the year were: 

• Graham Ascough (Non-Executive Chairman) 

• Paul Dowd (Non-Executive Director) 

• Peter Watson (Non-Executive Director) 

• David Hillier (Non-Executive Director) 

• James Fox (Managing Director & Chief Executive Officer) 

• Tim Moran (Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary) 

• Andy Bennett (Exploration Manager) 

The aggregate compensation of Key Management Personnel of the Group is set out below: 

 

Year Ended 

30/06/16 

$ 

Year Ended 

30/06/15 

$ 

Short-term employee benefits 740,097 777,903 

Post-employment benefits 74,878 60,395 

Share-based payments (9,162) 10,797 

 805,813 849,095 
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Details of key management personnel compensation are disclosed within the Remuneration Report in the 
Directors’ Report.  

 

23. REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR  

 

 Paid or payable for the following services: 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

 Audit and Review of the financial reports 28,340 33,385 

 Tax return preparation and advice - 6,825 

  28,340 40,210 

Audit fees in the prior year include $27,000 paid and payable to Grant Thornton, appointed as the Company’s 
auditor at the 2014 Annual General Meeting.  Remaining audit fees in 2015 and fees for the preparation of 
the tax return and other advice were paid to the previous auditor. 

 

24. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 

a) Subsidiaries 

Details of the percentage of ordinary shares held in subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 29. 

b) Other related party transactions 

 During the year the Company engaged Watsons Lawyers (now part of Piper Alderman), an entity in 
which a Director (Peter Watson) was a partner, to advise on legal matters. The amount paid in the 
financial year for these services inclusive of GST was $46,833 (2015: $134,788).  $2,200 inclusive of 
GST was owed at year end (2015: nil). 

 

25. COMMITMENTS FOR EXPENDITURE AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

(a) Expenditure Commitments 

The Group has certain obligations to perform exploration work and expend minimum amounts of money on 
mineral exploration tenements in South Australia in order to retain the full tenement lease.  There are no 
minimum expenditure requirements on the Company’s mineral leases in the Northern Territory. 

These obligations vary from time to time, subject to statutory approval. The terms of current and future joint 
ventures, the grant or relinquishment of licences and changes to licence areas at renewal or expiry will alter 
the expenditure commitments of the Company. 

Total expenditure commitments at 30 June 2016 in respect of minimum expenditure requirements not 
provided for in the financial statements are approximately: 

 
30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

Minimum exploration expenditure on SA tenements 900,000 1,000,000 

The Group’s office lease in Rose Park, South Australia, with annual lease payments exclusive of GST of 
$66,900, extends to August 2017. 

 (b) Reilly Tenement Acquisition Agreement 

By the Reilly Tenement Acquisition Agreement dated 19 October 2007 between the Company and Matthew 
Reilly, as amended by deed dated 19 November 2007 (RTAA), the Company agreed to purchase mineral 
exploration licence EL 3161 (now EL 5382) from Mr Reilly. 

Contingent consideration pursuant to this agreement: 
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• the issue and allotment to Mr Reilly of 800,000 Shares and 800,000 Options upon grant of an 
Exploration Licence over some or all of the area within EL 3161 (now EL5382) reserved from the 
operation of the Mining Act 1971 (SA), comprising the area, and immediate surroundings, of the historic 
Burra Mine and the historic Burra Smelter, as gazetted in March 1988; 

• the payment of $100,000 upon commencement of processing of any tailings, waste residues, waste 
rock, spoiled leach materials and other materials located on the surface of the land the subject matter 
of EL 3161 or derived from that land by or on behalf of the Company; and 

• the payment of $200,000 upon the Company announcing an ore reserve, prepared in accordance with 
the JORC Code, on EL 3161 of at least 15,000 tonnes of contained copper. 

 (c) Royalty Agreements 

The Company has granted the following royalties: 

• to Mr Matthew Reilly - 6% of the aggregate net revenue in respect of all metals derived from EL 3161 
(now EL 5382). 

• to Avanti Resources Pty Ltd - 2.5% of the net smelter return on all metals derived from EL 3604, EL 3716 
and EL 3686 (now ELs 4807, 4970, and 4886 respectively). 

• to Marathon Resources Limited - 2.5% net smelter return on all metals derived from EL 3164 (now EL 
5411). 

• to Copper Range (SA) Pty Limited - 1.5% net smelter return on all metals derived from EL 3459 (now EL 
4809). 

• to Copper Range (SA) Pty Limited - 2.0% net smelter return on all metals derived from EL 3971 and EL 
3451 (now ELs 5169 and 4626 respectively). 

• to Copper Range (SA) Pty Limited - 50% of a 1.5% net smelter return on all metals derived from EL 4370 
(now EL 5557). 

• to Flinders Mines Limited - 50% of a 1.5% net smelter return on all metals derived from EL 4370 (now EL 
5557). 

The Company’s subsidiary Leigh Creek Copper Mine Pty Ltd has a royalty agreement with Mount Gunson 
Mines Pty Ltd whereby a 1% royalty is payable to Mount Gunson in respect of copper produced from 
operations at ML 5467, ML 5498, and ML 5741. 

(d) Native Title 

A native title claim application has been lodged with the Federal Court of Australia over land on which the 
majority of the Group’s tenements in South Australia are located. The Group is unable to determine the 
prospects of success or otherwise of the claim application, and to what extent an approved claim might 
affect the Group or its projects. 

(e)  Newmarket Gold 

As outlined in Note 11, Newmarket Gold is entitled to a 2% royalty on the market value of any future 
production of gold and silver from the 14 mineral leases in the Northern Territory acquired by the Company 
in 2014.  A payment of $500,000, either in cash or shares at the Company’s election, is also due if a bankable 
feasibility study is completed on any of the acquired or farm-in tenements.  

In addition, Newmarket Gold holds a 30% claw-back right over the acquired tenements by paying PNX three 
times the Company’s accumulated expenditure on the tenements, and can also re-acquire 90% of any gold or 
silver deposits with a JORC compliant resource on the farm-in tenements by paying PNX three times the 
Company’s accumulated expenditure on the deposit(s).  
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS & FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

Categories of financial instruments 

 

30/06/16 

$ 

30/06/15 

$ 

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 1,643,632 868,865 

Deposits  58,895 32,760 

Trade and other receivables  260,880 14,607 

Other financial assets – Investment in Avalon 257,840 386,761 

Financial liabilities   

Trade and other payables 194,683 235,269 

Loan 1,200,000 1,200,000 

The Group’s activities expose it to several financial risks which impact on the measurement of and potentially 
could affect the ultimate settlement amount of its financial instruments: market risk, credit risk, and liquidity 
risk. 

Market risk 

The Group’s activities, up to 31 December 2011 when copper production ceased, were exposed to the 
financial risks of changes in US dollar exchange rates and global copper prices.   Since then, price and 
currency risk is minimal. 

The Group is exposed to movements in the share price of Avalon Minerals Ltd, as the Company’s investment 
of 12,892,013 shares in Avalon is carried at fair value, and price movements are reflected through other 
comprehensive income or loss.  Each one cent change in the market value of Avalon’s shares changes the fair 
value of the Company’s investment by $128,920.  Movement in the fair value of the investment in Avalon, as 
an indicator of its realisable value,  also affects the number of shares the Company may have to issue to 
settle any shortfall in the Company’s $1.2 million loan before it matures in November 2019 (refer Note 14).  

The Group’s exposure to interest rate movements is limited to increases or decreases in interest earned on 
cash, cash equivalents, and deposits.   

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher or lower during the financial year and all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s net loss would increase/decrease by approximately $3,000 and $3,000 
respectively (2015: increase/decrease by approximately $5,000 and $5,000 respectively).  

As the Group’s exposure to market risks is not significant, management of these risks is limited to monitoring 
movements in commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates, and the market value of the shares 
of Avalon Minerals Ltd. 

 

Credit risk  

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and 
obtaining sufficient collateral where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from 
activities.  

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.  

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, 
represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral 
obtained. 
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Liquidity risk 

Ultimate responsibility for managing liquidity risk rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an 
appropriate liquidity risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and 
long-term funding and liquidity management requirements.  The Board manages liquidity risk by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows, and raising capital as needed, primarily through new 
equity issuances, in order to meet the Group’s exploration expenditure commitments and corporate and 
administrative costs. 

Liquidity and interest risk tables 

The following table details the Company’s and the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-
derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial 
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.  

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. 

  

 

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate 

Less than one 
month 1-3 months 3-12 months 1-5 years 

2016 % $ $ $ $ 

Non-interest 
bearing - 158,333 19,500 16,850 - 

Fixed Interest 
bearing 7.5 - - 90,000 1,425,000 

2015      

Non-interest 
bearing - 175,021 43,398 16,850 - 

Fixed Interest 
bearing 7.5 - - 90,000 1,245,000 

 

Fair value of financial instruments 

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at 
amortised cost in the financial statements approximate their fair values. 

 

Capital risk management 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of debt and equity balances.  Due to 
the nature of the Group’s activities (primarily exploration), the Directors believe that the most appropriate 
and advantageous way to fund activities is through equity issuances, and all capital raised to date with the 
exception of the $1.2 million loan (which funded the acquisition of shares in Avalon Minerals Ltd) and the 
$1.6 million metal streaming transactions (Note 16) has been equity based. 

The Group closely monitors and forecasts its cash flow and working capital to ensure that adequate funds are 
available in the future to meet exploration and administrative activities. 
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27. SEGMENT INFORMATION 

AASB 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of 
the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources to 
the segment and to assess its performance.  

Information reported to the Group’s Chief Executive Officer for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of performance is both activity and project based.  The principal activity is mineral exploration in 
the Northern Territory and in South Australia.  Exploration projects are evaluated individually, and the 
decision to allocate resources to individual projects in the Group’s overall portfolio is predominantly based 
on available cash reserves, technical data and expectations of resource potential and future metal prices.  

The Group’s reportable segments under AASB 8 are therefore as follows: 

• Exploration in the Northern Territory 

• Exploration in South Australia 

• Mining and production of copper in Australia (now discontinued) 

Financial information regarding these segments is presented below. The accounting policies for reportable 
segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies. 

 

 

Revenue 

 

Segment loss 

 

Year ended 

 

Year ended 

 

30/06/16 
$ 

30/06/15 
$ 

 

30/06/16 
$ 

30/06/15 
$ 

Exploration – SA - - 

 

(101,310) (1,771,097) 

Exploration - NT - -  - - 

Mining - discontinued operation - - 

 

(90,060) (229,883) 

Unallocated - - 

 

(1,036,996) (2,330,319) 

 

  

 

  

Total loss before tax   

 

(1,228,366) (4,331,299) 

Income tax benefit   

 

245,905 - 

Total loss for the year   

 

(982,461) (4,331,299) 

 

Segment loss represents the loss earned by each segment without allocation of corporate 
administration costs, interest income and income tax.  This is the measure reported to the chief 
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment 
performance. 
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable operating segment: 
 

    
30/06/16 

$ 
30/06/15 

$ 

 Assets   
 

  

Exploration - SA   2,000,000 2,000,000 

Exploration - NT  2,739,486 1,330,479 

Mining (Held for Sale)   - - 

Unallocated assets   2,226,433 1,342,647 

Total assets   6,965,919 4,673,126 

Liabilities 
 

  

Exploration - SA 
 

- - 

Exploration - NT  42,400 101,965 

Mining (Held for Sale) 
 

- - 

Unallocated liabilities 
 

3,046,518 1,388,842 

Total liabilities 
 

3,088,918 1,490,807 

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, all 
assets are allocated to reportable segments except for cash/cash equivalents, other financial assets, 
prepayments/deposits, and corporate office equipment. 

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than employee provisions, loan, deferred 
revenue and corporate/administrative payables. 

 

28. EARNINGS PER SHARE 

 
Year Ended 

30/06/16 

Cents per share 

Year Ended 
30/06/15 

Cents per share 

Basic and Diluted loss per share-  continuing operations (0.2) (1.3) 

Basic and Diluted loss per share – discontinued 
operations (0.0) (0.1) 

 Total loss per share (0.2) (1.4) 

   

The earnings and weighted average number of ordinary 
shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted 
earnings per share are as follows: 

  

   

Loss after tax – continuing operations $ (892,401) (4,101,416) 

Loss after tax – discontinued operations $ (90,060) (229,883) 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 451,064,157 311,671,557 

The weighted average number of ordinary shares in the calculation of diluted earnings per share is the 
same as for basic earnings per share, as the inclusion of potential ordinary shares in the diluted earnings 
per share calculation is anti-dilutive due to the loss incurred for the year.  
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29. CONTROLLED ENTITIES 

 
 

  
 Ownership Interest 

Name of Entity  Country of 
Incorporation 

2016 

% 

2015 

% 

 Parent Entity 
PNX Metals Limited 

 
(i) 

 
Australia 

  

 Subsidiaries 
Wellington Exploration Pty Ltd 

 

(ii) 

 

Australia 

 

100% 

 

100% 

   Leigh Creek Copper Mine Pty Ltd (ii) Australia 100% 100% 

 

(i) Head entity in tax consolidated group 

(ii) Members of tax consolidated group 

 

The ultimate parent entity in the wholly-owned group is PNX Metals Limited. During the financial year, 
PNX Metals Limited provided accounting and administrative services at no cost to the controlled entities 
and advanced interest free loans.  Tax losses have been transferred to PNX Metals Limited by way of 
inter-company loans. 

PNX Metals Limited has entered into a deed of cross guarantee with its wholly-owned subsidiaries, 
Leigh Creek Copper Mine Pty Ltd and Wellington Exploration Pty Ltd, and therefore these latter entities 
are relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial report and directors’ report under Class Order 
98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission. As there are no 
other entities in the Group other than those party to the deed of cross guarantee, the consolidated 
financial statements of the entities party to the deed of cross guarantee are the same as those of the 
Group.  

 

30. PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 

 30/06/16 
$ 

30/06/15 
$ 

Financial Position   
Assets   
Current assets 2,240,265 1,325,160 
Non-current assets 4,725,654 3,347,966 
Total assets 6,965,919 4,673,126 
   
Liabilities   
Current liabilities 260,832 280,875 
Non-current liabilities 2,828,086 1,209,932 
Total liabilities 3,088,918 1,490,807 
   
Net Assets 3,877,001 3,182,319 
Equity   
Issued capital 28,377,292 26,562,067 
Other equity 600,000 600,000 
Reserves - 347,193 
Accumulated losses (25,100,291) (24,326,941) 
Total equity 3,877,001 3,182,319 
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Year Ended 
30/06/16 

$ 

Year Ended 
30/06/15 

$ 
Financial Performance   
Loss for the year (982,461) (4,331,299) 
Other comprehensive income/loss (128,920) 455,927 
Total comprehensive loss (1,111,381) (3,875,372) 

 

Commitments for expenditure and contingent liabilities of the parent entity 

Note 25 discloses the Group’s commitments for expenditure and contingent liabilities, all of which are 
applicable to the parent entity also. 

 

31. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

In August 2016, the Group raised $1.5 million via the placement of 79 million shares at $0.019 each to 
sophisticated and institutional investors.  The Group also received a commitment for a further share 
placement of $0.25 million if approved by shareholders at the Company’s 2016 annual general meeting. 

Also subsequent to year-end, the Board resolved to issue 1,000,000 Shares to Company MD & CEO 
James Fox and grant him 1,250,000 Performance Rights, with both awards subject to shareholder 
approval at the Company’s 2016 AGM.  The proposed share issuance is considered by the Directors to 
be an appropriate bonus for Mr Fox’s performance over the past year as the Company’s Managing 
Director & CEO, and in particular for his leadership in advancing the Hayes Creek Project into a Pre-
Feasibility Study. 

The 1,250,000 Performance Rights to be offered to Mr Fox have the following performance conditions: 

• The Company’s share price performance for the year ended 30 June 2017 must exceed that of 
at least 50% of 10 companies identified by the Directors as the Company’s peers; and 

• The Company’s closing price on the ASX is 6.0 cents or more for 15 consecutive trading days 
prior to 30 June 2018. 

There are no other matters or circumstances otherwise that have arisen since 30 June 2016 and have 
significantly affected or may significantly affect: 

• the Group’s operations in future financial years; 

• the results of those operations in future financial years; or 

• the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years 
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Directors’ Declaration 

In the Directors’ opinion: 

(a) the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, 
including 

i. complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other
mandatory professional reporting requirements, and

ii. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2016 and of its 
performance for the financial year ended on that date;

(b) the financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board; 

(c) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable; and 

(d) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the 
Group will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by 
virtue of the deed of cross guarantee described in Note 29. 

The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer required 
by Section 295A of the Corporation Act 2001. 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors made pursuant to Section 295(5) of the Corporations 
Act 2001. 

Graham Ascough 

Chairman  

20th September 2016 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

TO THE MEMBERS OF PNX METALS LIMITED 

Report on the financial report 

We have audited the accompanying financial report of PNX Metals Limited (the “Company”), 

which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2016, the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, 

notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information 

and the directors’ declaration of the consolidated entity comprising the Company and the entities 

it controlled at the year’s end or from time to time during the financial year. 

Directors’ responsibility for the financial report 

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that 

gives a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 

Corporations Act 2001. The Directors’ responsibility also includes such internal control as the 

Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true 

and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. The 

Directors also state, in the notes to the financial report, in accordance with Accounting Standard 

AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements, the financial statements comply with 

International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Auditor’s responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial report based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require 

us to comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 

perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report is free from 

material misstatement.  



An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 

disclosures in the financial report. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 

including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether 

due to fraud or error.  

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the 

Company’s preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in order to design 

audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. An audit also includes 

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 

estimates made by the Directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial 

report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our audit opinion. 

Independence 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the 

Corporations Act 2001.   

Auditor’s opinion 

In our opinion: 

a the financial report of PNX Metals Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 

2001, including: 

i giving a true and fair view of the consolidated entity’s financial position as at 30 June 

2016 and of its performance for the year ended on that date; and 

ii complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 

2001; and 

b the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as 

disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.  

Material uncertainty regarding continuation as going concern 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 3(a) in the financial report which 

indicates that the consolidated entity incurred a comprehensive loss of $1,111,381 and operations 

were funded by a net cash outlay of $2,550,458 from operating and investing activities. These 

conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 3(a), indicate the existence of a material 

uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the consolidated entity’s ability to continue as 

a going concern and therefore, the consolidated entity may be unable to realise its assets and 

discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business, and at the amounts stated in the financial 

report. 



Report on the remuneration report  

We have audited the remuneration report included in the directors’ report for the year ended 

30 June 2016. The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and 

presentation of the remuneration report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations 

Act 2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the remuneration report, based on our 

audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. 

Auditor’s opinion on the remuneration report 

In our opinion, the remuneration report of PNX Metals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2016, 

complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. 

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD 
Chartered Accountants 

J L Humphrey 

Partner - Audit & Assurance 

Adelaide, 20 September 2016 
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